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Note by the secretariat

1. The financial procedures for the Conference of the Parties, its subsidiary bodies and
the secretariat require that a final audited statement of accounts for the full financial period
be provided to the Conference of the Parties as soon as possible after the accounts for the
financial period are closed. They also stipulate that the accounts and financial management
of all funds governed by these financial procedures shall be subject to the internal and
external audit process of the United Nations.

2. The United Nations Board of Auditors has audited the financial statements for the
year 2018. The full text of the Board’s report and of the audited financial statements is
included in the annex and reproduced as received, with the original pagination. The
secretariat’s response to the audit recommendations is in the addendum to this document
(FCCC/SBI/2019/INF.9/Add.1).

3. The Subsidiary Body for Implementation is invited to take note of the information
contained in the audited financial statements and the report of the Board. It may also wish to
recommend appropriate actions in draft decisions on administrative and financial matters for
consideration and adoption by the Conference of the Parties at its twenty-fifth session, by the
Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol at its
fifteenth session and by the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to
the Paris Agreement at its second session.
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Note

Symbols of United Nations documents are composed of letters combined with figures.
Mention of such a symbol indicates a reference to a United Nations document.
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Chapter 1

Report of the Board of Auditors on the financial statements: audit opinion
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the United Nations Framework Convention on
Climate Change (UNFCCC) which comprise the statement of financial position (statement I) as at
31 December 2018, the statement of financial performance (statement IT), statement of changes in
net assets (statement IIT), cash flow statement (statement IV) and the statement of comparison of
budgets to actual amounts (statement V) for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of UNFCCC as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSAS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).
Our responsibilities under those standards are described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of UNFCCC in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Information other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon

The Executive Secretary is responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the financial report for the year ended 31 December 2018 included in Chapter IV, but
does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with IPSAS and for such internal control as Management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing UNFCCC’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless Management either intends to liquidate
UNFCCC or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing UNFCCC’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of UNFCCC’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by Management.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on UNFCCC’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause UNFCCC to cease to continue
as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion, the transactions of UNFCCC that have come to our notice or that
we have tested as part of our audit have, in all significant respects, been in accordance with the
Financial Regulations and Rules of UNFCCC and legisiative authority.

In accordance with Article VII of the United Nations Financial Regulations and Rules, we have
also issued a long-form report on our audit of UNFCCC.

Lanse Lloille

Kay Scheller

President of the German Federal Court of Auditors
Chair of the Board of Auditors

(Lead Auditor)

Rajiv Mehrishi
Comptroller and Auditor General of India

Nyl

Comptroller General of the Republic of Chile

24 July 2019
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Chapter 11

Long-form Report of the Board of Auditors

Summary

The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) is an
international environmental treaty that entered into force in 1994. The Board of Auditors (Board)
audited the financial statements and reviewed the operations of UNFCCC for the year ended
31 December 2018. The audit was carried out at UNFCCC’s headquarters in Bonn, Germany.

Audit opinion

The Board has issued an unqualified audit opinion on the financial statements for the period
under review as reflected in chapter L.

Overall conclusion

UNFCCC had accumulated surplus and reserves of $143.1 million. In 2018, UNFCCC
recognized a surplus of $7.9 million. Only 86 per cent of indicative contributions of the Parties
were received for 2018.

The 2018 financial statements were presented for audit on 31 March 2019. The Board did not
identify any material shortcomings in the financial statements. The Board found certain areas for
further improvement, including funding and calculation of long-term employee benefits, the
accounting and use of Umoja functionalities for voluntary contributions, the budget presentation
and the compliance with human resources policies that merit attention.

Key findings and recommendations

The Board’s main findings are as follows:
Funding and calculation of employee benefit liabilities

Liabilities for long-term employee benefits, in particular after-service health insurance
liabilities, represent the largest liability in the financial statements of UNFCCC. For staff financed
from voluntary contributions, UNFCCC started funding the liabilities as from 2017. The Board
noted that the Conference of the Parties (COP) did neither decide on funding for staff financed
from indicative contributions nor on staff financed from voluntary contributions.

The calculation for the after-service health insurance and repatriation benefit liabilities is
conducted by an external actuary. The Board noted possible inaccuracies in the data which was
used by the actuary for calculating the liabilities.

Accounting for voluntary contributions and use of Umoja functionalities

The Board noted that UNFCCC did not use the functionalities that Umoja offers for the
management of the grants and for automated donor reporting. Instead, UNFCCC used Excel sheets.
UNFCCC also did not upload the underlying documentation of donor agreements to Umoja.

Compliance of the human resources policies with the United Nations policies
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UNFCCC applied its specific staff selection system of policies that included the selection
of consultants and individual contractors, the recruitment of fixed-term and temporary staff, and
the review board observing the selection process. The Board noted that the required approval of
the Secretary-General was lacking. The Board is of the view that UNFCCC should close the
legal gap with high priority. In addition to the compliance risks, the Board points out that
deviating policies and tools might not be efficient.

Efficiency of the recruitment process

In 2018, it took UNFCCC 246 days on average to fill a fixed-term position. Only three out
of 33 cases met the 120-days target promulgated by the General Assembly while the longest
selection process took 419 days. The Board found that the selection of both staff and consultants
was supported by separate, tailor-made software applications. Further, UNFCCC carried out
several tasks that are offered by shared human resources services. The Board holds that
participating in United Nations-wide software solutions and shared human resources services could
be beneficial to UNFCCC. A prerequisite for this would be to apply the United Nations” policies.

Reporting on the budget

Whilst the secretariat complies with requirements by the COP, the Board noted that the
budget performance report did neither reflect the period of the budget biennium nor of the financial
statements. The Board found further weaknesses such as lacking planned figures mainly for non-
core funds, an ambiguous reporting basis and the incomparable breakdown of costs.

Recommendations
Based on the key findings above, the Board recommends that UNFCCC:

Funding and calculation of employee benefit liabilities
a) Incorporate the liabilities incurred by staff financed from indicative contributions in its

funding policy review for employee benefits and seek a COP decision.

b) Consult with the actuary and United Nations Headquarters on the data basis for the
actuarial valuation of employee benefits liabilities to enhance the accuracy of the actuarial
valuation.

Accounting for voluntary contributions and use of Umoja functionalities
¢) Use Umoja to its full extent to manage donor agreements within Umoja, to properly store

documents related to donor agreements and to produce automated donor reports.

Compliance of the human resources policies with the United Nations policies
d) Adopt the United Nations staff selection policies system in the then applicable version or
request an approval of deviations by end of December 2019.

Efficiency of the recruitment process
¢) Evaluate as to whether it is beneficial to use the United Nations recruitment tool and to
participate in shared human resources services where possible.

Reporting on the budget
f) Transparently report on actuals vs. budget figures for all of its funding sources, taking into

account timing and reporting differences.
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Key Facts

$99.1 million
$91.2 million
$7.8 million
$143.1 million
$236.0 million
$92.9 million
$34.2 million
391

Revenue

Expenses

Surplus for the year

Accumulated Surpluses and Reserves
Assets

Liabilities

Core budget

Staff
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A. Mandate, scope and methodology

L The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) is an
international environmental treaty adopted in 1992 that entered into force in 1994. Its objective is
to stabilize greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere at a level that will prevent dangerous
human interference with the climate system. In 1997, the Kyoto Protocol was concluded. It
established legally binding obligations for developed countries to reduce their greenhouse gas
emissions. In 2015, the Paris Agreement was adopted governing emission reductions from 2020
on by means of commitments of countries in Nationally Determined Contributions. Currently, the
convention has 197 Parties. The work of UNFCCC is facilitated by its Secretariat located in Bonn,
Germany. The Secretariat is institutionally linked to the United Nations without being integrated
in any programmes.

2 The Board of Auditors (Board) has audited the financial statements of UNFCCC and
reviewed its operations for the year ended 31 December 2018 in accordance with General Assembly
resolution 74 (I) of 1946. The audit was conducted in conformity with Article VII of the Financial
Regulations and Rules of the United Nations and the annex thereto and in accordance with the
International Standards on Auditing. These standards require that the Board comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

3. The audit was conducted primarily to enable the Board to form an opinion as to whether the
financial statements presented fairly the financial position of UNFCCC as at 31 December 2018
and the results of its operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, in
accordance with the International Public-Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). This included an
assessment as to whether the expenses recorded in the financial statements had been incurred for the
purposes approved by the bodies and whether revenue and expenses had been properly classified and
recorded in accordance with the United Nations Regulations and Rules and financial procedures
approved by the Conference of the Parties (COP) in Decision 15/CP.1 and IPSAS. The audit included
a general review of the financial systems and internal controls and a test examination of the
accounting records and other supporting evidence to the extent that the Board considered necessary to
form an opinion on the financial statements.

4. In addition to auditing accounts and financial transactions, the Board carried out reviews of
the UNFCCC operations under United Nations financial regulation 7.5. This enables the Board to
make observations with respect to the efficiency of the financial procedures, the accounting system,
internal financial controls and, in general, the administration and management of UNFCCC
operations. The Board also followed up on its previous recommendations. These matters are
addressed in the relevant sections of this report.

5 The audit was carried out from 1 April to 3 May 2019. The examination of UNFCCC
included a review of the internal controls and accounting systems and procedures only to the extent
considered necessary for the effective performance of our examination.

6. The findings and observations should not be regarded as representing a comprehensive
statement of all the weaknesses which may exist in the financial and management systems at
UNFCCC, or as identifying all improvements which could be made to the systems and procedures.

72 The present report covers matters that, in the opinion of the Board, should be brought to the
attention of the COP. The Board’s observations and conclusions were discussed with UNFCCC
Management, whose views have been appropriately reflected in the report.
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B.

Findings and recommendations

Follow-up of previous recommendations

8. The Board noted that out of the total 18 recommendations that remained outstanding up to
31 December 2017, 9 (50 per cent) had been implemented, 7 (39 per cent) were under implementation
and 2 (11 per cent) had been overtaken by events. The implementation rate shows a decrease
compared to the previous year when 74 per cent were fully implemented and 13 per cent were under
implementation. Details of the status of the implementation of the recommendations are presented in
the Annex. The Board draws attention on the follow-up on the recommendations no. 10 and no. 12
that are dealt with below, and on no. 7 on the funding of long-term employee benefit liabilities (cf.
para. 39ff).

Oversight of the review process of UNFCCC policies

9. The Board had noted in last year’s audit that UNFCCC had issued entity -specific policies
for which no required agreement of the Secretary-General - delegated to the Under-Secretary-
General of the Department of Management, Strategy, Policy and Compliance (DMSPC) - had been
obtained. The Board had therefore recommended that UNFCCC adopt the United Nations policy
or seek for the required approval if UNFCCC should conclude to continue applying its own
policies. The audit had focused on the policy on hiring consultants and individual contractors’
policy (no. 11, Annex). The Subsidiary Body for Implementation (SBI) of the COP emphasized
this recommendation to be implemented (FCCC/SBI/2018/L.24/Add.2). The Board had advised
UNFCCC that further policies were outdated and/or deviated from the United Nations policies and
that a general review of all policies applied at UNFCCC was needed to ensure compliance. One
year later, UNFCCC still had its entity-specific policy in place without having obtained the
agreement of the Secretary-General. UNFCCC justified this status with the on-going revision of
the human resources policies by United Nations Headquarters that were perceived to be in the final
stages. In order to minimize the changeover efforts, UNFCCC preferred to await finalization of
the United Nations policies. In 2018, an external review of UNFCCC’s structure and operations
(cf. para. 17ff) emphasized the Board’s observations that it was essential that the secretariat
urgently address this situation. The Board has continued to observe the process of streamlining the
policies.

10. The Board noted that UNFCCC listed 36 administrative issuances, 24 bulletins and 5
standard operating procedures that deviated from applicable United Nations rules and regulations.
In August 2018, the Steering Committee for the structural review mandated the Director of
Administrative Services to continue the alignment process, starting with 7 prioritized issuances,
and to keep senior management informed on the progress. Among the prioritized issuances were
the staff selection system (cf. para. 132) and the provision governing the termination/restructuring
process (Annex, no. 1).

11. The Board found that the general decision of the Steering Committee that UNFCCC
policies should be aligned with the United Nations policies was not complemented by a dedicated
action plan. Senior management was not informed about the progress or status of the policy review.
Neither specific mandates or objectives nor time-lines for the review were submitted to the owners
of the respective policies. The Board found that only one policy revision had been completed by
April 2019 (internship policy, cf. para. 125ff). During the time of the audit, in April 2019, the
Deputy Executive Secretary requested monthly updates on the progress made with implementing
the outstanding recommendation by the Director Administrative Services and the Director Legal
Affairs.

12. UNFCCC stated that several policies were under revision or in the stage of communication
to United Nations Secretariat since last year.
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13. Inthe Board’s view, the alignment process requires full oversight. Already in the last year’s
audit, the Board had noted that UNFCCC had not acted upon several recommendations of presumptive
fraud cases until the audit team had followed up. The Board had urged UNFCCC to strengthen the
function of a focal point for audit and oversight matters by re-instating the position at the Deputy
Executive Secretary level (no. 10, Annex). The recommendation is under implementation. The
decision is put on hold pending the implementation of the structure review. The Board points out that
strengthening the function of the overall focal point is still a priority.

14. While the senior management’s request for regular updates on the progress of reviewing
all policies was an important initial step, a more detailed plan must follow. This includes
measurable objectives of the review (stock-taking of deviations, aim of compliance where
possible; justification of any exceptions deemed to be further needed), deadlines and reporting,
owners and decision process.

15. The Board recommends that UNFCCC ensure the oversight of the policy review
process including objectives, due dates and reporting lines for each policy.

16. UNFCCC agreed with the recommendation.

2.  General information and financial overview
Structure Review

17. UNFCCC carried out a review of its structure, operations and allocation of resources in
2018. UNFCCC stated that the reasons for the review were the Paris Agreement in 2015 and the
outcomes of COP 24 in Katowice that brought the climate change regime and the work of
UNFCCC into a new phase. UNFCCC mandated a consultancy company to assist in the review
and provide options and recommendations for changes in Secretariat structure or operations in
response to the changed demands. The final report, presented in January 2019, encompassed
various conclusions and recommendations. In particular, the consultant presented options on the
high level organization chart that defines departments and divisions operating in the new structure,
the responsibilities, other actions to be taken, the timeline and process for the implementing the
structural review. While UNFCCC evaluated the options for implementation, UNFCCC
simultaneously developed the budget proposal for the biennium 2020-2021 in a new structure. This
budget proposal included two scenarios: a zero nominal growth scenario for the core budget and a
proposed budget that would provide predictable and adequate resources to allow UNFCCC to
respond to the mandates and expectations of Parties. In both scenarios, UNFCCC requested 502
posts allocated to eight funds. This means 68.5 additional posts compared to the current budget
2018-2019 (FCCC/SBL/2018/16). In the zero nominal growth scenario, less posts for the core
budget were compensated by an increase of posts for the trust fund for supplementary activities.
The current staffing situation and vacancy rates are covered in para. 164f.

18. UNFCCC presented “lessons learnt” from the restructuring of the Sustainable
Development Mechanism (SDM) programme in 2015 and the ICT programme in 2016, in
particular on restructuring guidelines, in response to audit recommendation no. 1 of the Annex.
General practice has shown that such major organizational changes may impact significantly upon
the workflow of the organization. UNFCCC therefore needs well-designed implementation
procedures that will mitigate the risks associated with the structural review and a clear set of
criteria against which to assess whether the restructuring has achieved its objectives.

Potential impact of the United Nations management reform

19. The Board took into account the management reform proposed by the United Nations
Secretariat and its effects on the entities. Since the management reform mainly relates to the United
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Nations Headquarters, changes do not automatically affect the structure or budgetary resources of
the UNFCCC secretariat.

20. In 2019, the Secretary-General established a new framework for delegation of authority in
the administration of the Staff Regulations and Rules and the Financial Regulations and Rules
(ST/SGB/2019/2). The Executive Secretary has a delegation of authority in personnel matters that
dates from 1996. In January 2019, the Secretary-General rescinded all delegations of authority in
place under the Staff Regulations and Rules issued to any official other than the executive heads
of separately administered and funded subsidiary organs, institutions, funds and programmes of
the United Nations (ST/SGB/2019/2 para. 1.1). UNFCCC was informed by e-mail by DMSPC that
it was one of the subsidiary institutions for which delegations of authority were not rescinded.
Therefore, the status quo for exercising administrative authorities as applicable on 31 December
2018 remained the same.

21. The Board assessed whether and how UNFCCC sees its role in contributing to the goals
of the United Nations reform. The Board noted that changed United Nations policies and processes
have had and will have an impact on UNFCCC, cf. para. 9ff. UNFCCC accepted the Board’s
observations and confirmed that it would use the policy review launched in 2018 to keep abreast
of policy changes in the United Nations in the light of the management reform. UNFCCC stated
that, beyond the specific issues of changes to policies and processes in the context of the reform,
it aimed to ensure that the Secretary-General’s priority areas of improvement' guide the on-going
restructuring process. By way of example, UNFCCC named the steps taken to enhance the
transparency of the UNFCCC budgeting process and the way it is presented to the Parties?
Furthermore, UNFCCC stated that it contributed to the efforts of the United Nations Secretariat in
reviewing human resources policies and engaging with the human resources service centre based
in Bonn (OneHR), cf. para. 142.

22. The Board noted that a dedicated team was established to implement the outcome of the
2018 structure review. Seen together with the policy review, the two processes would enable
UNFCCC to monitor relevant developments and potential impacts of the United Nations
management reform.

Financial overview

23. The revenue of UNFCCC for the year ended 31 December 2018 amounted to $99.1 million
(2017: $85.7 million) while expenses amounted to $91.2 million (2017: $95.4 million) resulting in a
surplus of $7.9 million (2017: deficit $9.7 million). Of the ten funds, five realized a surplus and five
a deficit. The assets totalled $236.0 million (2017: $230.4 million) while the liabilities were $92.9
million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: $100.3 million), leaving net assets of $143.1 million (2017:
$130.1 million). This increase of the net assets was in addition to the 2018 surplus due to actuarial
gains ($5.0 million). The financial ratios are presented in table 1.

1 Cf. A/72/492 and https://reform.un.org/content/management-reform.
2 Cf. https://unfece int/about-us/budget for more information.

10
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Table 1: Ratio analysis

Ratio 31 December 2018 31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Total assets : total liabilities”

Total assets : total liabilities 2.54 2.30 2.20
Current ratio®

Current assets : current liabilities 12.81 7.53 9.65
Quick ratio®

(Cash + short-term investments + accounts receivable):

current liabilities 12.29 6.87 9.11
Cash ratio?
(Cash + short-term investments) : current liabilities 1137 6.41 8.57

Source: Calculated on the basis of UNFCCC’s financial statements 2018

Note:

@A high ratio is a good indicator of solvency.

ba high ratio indicates an entity’s ability to pay off its current liabilities.

CThe quick ratio is more conservative than the current ratio because it excludes inventory and other current assets, which are
more difficult to turn into cash. A higher ratio means a more liquid current position.

% The cash ratio is an indicator of an entity’s liquidity. It serves to measure the amount of cash, cash equivalents or invested funds
available in current assets to cover current liabilities.

24. Compared to the previous year, there was little change in the total assets to total liabilities
ratio as at 31 December 2018. There was a significant increase in current ratio, quick ratio and cash
ratios. The ability of UNFCCC to cover its current liabilities increased compared to the previous
financial year. This mainly resulted from shifting long-term investments (2018: $13.4 million, 2017:
$44.6 million) to short-term investments (2018: $172.1 million, 2017: $141.5 million) and to cash and
cash equivalents (2018: $20.2 million, 2017: $14.2 million).

25, Out of the total assets of $236.0 million, $205.7 million were cash and cash equivalents,
short-term investments and long-term investments deposited in the United Nations Office at Geneva
cash pool which was in turn invested by the United Nations treasury in New York.

26. Compared to the previous year, the revenue increased significantly by $13.4 million. The
main reasons were the increasing indicative contributions (by $4.5 million), voluntary contributions
(by $6.7 million), Joint Implementation and Clean Development Mechanism service fees (by $3.1
million) and interest revenue (by $1.4 million). The increase in indicative contributions has mainly
been caused by exchange rate effects of $4.4 million. The increase in voluntary contributions has been
caused by opposing trends: in the trust fund for supplementary activities, revenues from voluntary
contributions increased by $15.9 million and in the trust fund for participation in the UNFCCC Process
by $5.2 million. In the fund for conferences and other recoverable costs, the revenues decreased by
$14.8 million. The reason for the decrease was COP 23 held in Bonn, Germany during the financial
year 2017. The COP was strongly supported by donors. For voluntary contributions it is important to
consider that revenue recognition is volatile since revenues are recognized at the time a donor
agreement becomes binding. Obligations that are connected with the agreements often materialize in
subsequent periods (cf. para. 84ff).

217. For the year 2018, total expenses amounted to $91.2 million (2017: $95.4 million). Staff
expenses constituted the major expenditure item and decreased by $3.9 million. Staff numbers
decreased from 403 staff (2017) to 391 (2018) as at 31 December of the respective year. The other
expenditure categories show opposing trends: expenses for contractual services decreased
significantly by $10.3 million, whereas travel expenditures increased by $3.0 million and other
expenses by $1.8 million. UNFCCC had to return donor funding of $5.1 million, especially for value
added tax in relation to COP 23 in Bonn.
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Outstanding indicative contributions

28. UNFCCCreceives indicative contributions from Parties that are the equivalent of assessed
contributions received for the United Nations.

29. The Board noted that outstanding indicative contributions from the Parties from 1996 to
2018 was €9.0 million as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017 €5.5 million). Table 2 shows
the portions across the individual years.

Table 2: Outstanding indicative contributions to the Convention and to the Kyoto Protocol
and the Trust fund for the International Transaction Log

Total as at 31
2018 2017 2010-2016 1996-2009 December
2018t

Outstanding indicative
contribution €4.3 million €1.8 million €2.7 million €0.2 million €9.0 million

Source: Calculated on the basis of Umoja data

30. The Board noted that 48 per cent of the outstanding contributions as at 31 December 2018
pertained to the financial year 2018, 20 per cent pertain to the financial year 2017 and 30 per cent
to the financial years 2010 to 2016. 85 per cent of the contributions outstanding are owed by ten
Parties. The remaining arrears of 16 per cent are spread across 84 Parties.

31. UNFCCC stated that the organization had undertaken various efforts to recover the
outstanding contributions (no. 3 of Annex 1).

e UNFCCC sent annual notification letters to each party, at least 90 days before
payment was due. Any outstanding contributions were also indicated in the
notification. Parties were also requested to indicate upfront when they are intended
to transfer the payments due;

UNFCCC sent quarterly reminder letters to the national focal points;

When the Executive Secretary and other senior management met any Parties at
conferences/ meetings/ workshops throughout the year, they were provided with
factsheets on financial information to raise this topic in the discussion;

e The secretariat stated to continue to bring this issue to the attention of Parties, especially
at the COP and SBI meetings.

32. The Board noted with concern the growth of uncollected indicative contribution and
impaired indicative contributions (see also note 6 to the financial statements). However, the Board
appreciates the steps taken by the UNFCCC Secretariat.

Accumulated surplus of the cost recovery fund

33. The cost recovery with the total cost of ownership concept serves to fund the support
services for supplementary activities. The cost recovery fund accounts for these income and
expenditures, primarily for ICT and administrative services.

34. A memorandum of the United Nations Controller on cost recovery from 8 June 2012 states
that the rates charged should not exceed the actual costs. The costs should be reasonable and no
more than the amount necessary to recover actual services costs.

35. As at 31 December 2018 UNFCCC accrued net assets in the cost recovery fund of $2.0
million (note 18 to the financial statements). This means that the net assets amount to 36 per cent
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of the 2018 expenditures of the cost recovery fund. These surpluses had accumulated over past
years (accumulated surplus 2017: $1.8 million; 2016: $1.2 million).

36. The Board is of the view that the cost recovery fund should not be used to collect
significant amounts of accumulated surplus. The establishment of any reserve is contrary to the
Controller’s memorandum. Therefore, UNFCCC should analyse the reasons for the surplus
accumulated and monitor the total cost of ownership related charges. If the charges are over-
recovered, then UNFCCC should assess how to use any residual of the net assets.

37. The Board recommends that UNFCCC analyse the net assets of the cost recovery
fund and act on the results of this analysis.

38. UNFCCC agreed with the recommendation.

3. Funding and calculation of employee benefit liabilities
3.1. Funding of employee benefit liabilities and related disclosure
Background

39, The post-employment long term benefits granted to employees of UNFCCC include after-
service health insurance, repatriation grant, annual leave and pension benefits. The pension
benefits are paid through the United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund (UNJSPF). While UNJSPF
is a funded, multi-employer defined benefit plan, the other long-term employee benefits are
financed through a ‘pay as you go’ system. UNFCCC recognizes liabilities for the post-
employment long term benefits not covered by UNJSPF. These liabilities represent the largest
liability in the financial statements of UNFCCC. Out of these employee benefit liabilities, the
liabilities for after-service health insurance are the largest share that amount to $63.8 million per
31 December 2018.

40. UNFCCC stated that in accordance with IPSAS 39 (formerly IPSAS 25), the liabilities for
after-service health insurance and repatriation benefits were considered unfunded. Therefore, the
entire after-service health insurance liability and repatriation liability was recognized as a liability
of UNFCCC.

Funding of employee benefit liabilities related to voluntary contributions

41. Financial Rule 103.4 (b) stipulates that voluntary contributions which directly or
indirectly involve additional financial liability for the Organization may be accepted only with the
approval of the General Assembly. Therefore, as of 2017, the United Nations decided to start
systematically setting aside funds for unfunded after-service health insurance and repatriation
benefits liabilities from voluntary contributions. The United Nations estimated that an after-service
health insurance charge equivalent to 9 per cent of gross salary plus post adjustment was needed
for all categories of staff funded from voluntary contributions. The United Nations decided to
implement the new accrual policy in a phased manner to minimize the impact on on-going projects
and programme delivery, starting with a monthly accrual of 3 per cent that was to be applied
through payroll to all posts funded by voluntary contributions. Accordingly, UNFCCC had started
funding the liabilities for after-service health insurance and repatriation by accruing for these
expenses as of January 2017. This included all funds except for core budget and the Trust fund for
the International Transaction Log.

42. In its 2017 audit report, the Board had recommended that UNFCCC review its funding
policy for after-service health insurance and repatriation liabilities, in particular the duration of the
accumulation phase, and seek a COP decision on the funding plan of the voluntary funded liabilities
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(Annex, no. 7). UNFCCC stated that it had prepared an “After-service health insurance and
repatriation reserves — discussion paper” presenting various options on how to deal with the after-
service health insurance liabilities in October 2018. However, this paper was neither discussed
internally at Management Team meetings nor with Parties at the COP. Therefore, the
recommendation is considered to be under implementation. Due to the high amount of unfunded
liabilities, the Board urges that UNFCCC initiate action to implement the recommendation.

Funding of employee benefit liabilities related to indicative contributions

43. Disparate rules apply for staff financed from indicative contributions. The General
Assembly (Resolution 68/244, Resolution 70/248, Resolution 73/279) decided to continue a ‘pay -
as-you-go’ approach for after-service health insurance liabilities for staff funded from assessed
contributions for the United Nations entities under its governance. According to the opinion of the
General Assembly, assessed contributions are generally predictable and cover budgets that reflect
all requirements for the period in question, including those for current and retired employees. The
Secretary-General of the United Nations did not share this view: The Secretary-General therefore
suggested that, the after-service health insurance liability should be funded on a pay-as-you-accrue
basis. As a result of a working group of representatives of 18 United Nations system entities -
excluding UNFCCC -, the Secretary-General recommended to the General Assembly (A73/662)
to maintain a pay-as-you-go approach for staff members recruited before 2022, start funding after-
service health insurance liabilities for staff recruited after 2022 and to review the approach every
three years.

44. Although the General Assembly decided to maintain the pay-as-you-go proposal for staff
financed from the regular budget, it acknowledged with concern the importance of after-service
health insurance liabilities. The General Assembly welcomed the efforts of the Secretary -General
to propose measures to address the issue. It also asked to be kept abreast of developments and
requested the Secretary-General to seek for comprehensive solutions (Resolution 73/279).

45. For the core budget and the trust fund for the International Transaction Log, UNFCCC
currently applies the ‘pay-as-you-go’ approach in accordance with the General Assembly decision.
The reason is that the funding generated in these two funds relates to indicative contributions which
are the equivalents of assessed contributions received for the United Nations.

46. Since UNFCCC is institutionally linked to the United Nations, but not governed by the
General Assembly, the Board holds that the COP as the governing body should take funding
decisions for long-term liabilities. Since the COP has not yet decided on the funding of the after-
service health insurance liability for voluntary financed posts, the Board suggest that the COP
consider how to fund core financed after-service health insurance liabilities as well: starting now
through accruing or later through pay-as-you-go.

47. The Board recommends that UNFCCC incorporate the liabilities incurred by staff
financed from indicative contributions in its funding policy review for employee benefits and
seek a COP decision.

48. UNFCCC accepted the recommendation.
Disclosure of funded vs. unfunded share

49. During the year 2017, the accrued funds for voluntary contributions were accounted in a
fund managed by United Nations Headquarters. In 2018, these accrued funds were returned from
United Nations Headquarters to UNFCCC. The funds are now collected in UNFCCC’s own fund
“UNFCCC Employee liabilities fund”. UNFCCC accrued $2.3 million for after-service health
insurance and repatriation benefits in 2017 and 2018, which are held in cash and investments in
the United Nations cash pool like any other cash and investments. The Board noted that the
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financial statements do not show which portion of the after-service health insurance liability stems
from core financed and which portion from voluntary and other sources funded posts.

50. The Board holds that this information is essential to provide to Management and the Parties
areliable decision-making basis. Therefore, the share of liabilities that is incurred by core financed
and by non-core financed activities and whether it is funded or not should be disclosed
transparently within the financial statements.

Sl The Board recommends that UNFCCC disclose which share of the post-employment
benefit liabilities stems from core financed staff and which share from non-core activities
financed staff separately in its financial statements.

52. UNFCCC agreed with the recommendation.
Investment strategy for funding the liabilities

53. The funds for the after-service health insurance liabilities that have already been accrued
are held in the United Nations cash-pool like any other cash and investments. After-service health
insurance liabilities take a long time to reach maturity whereas the investments held in the cash-
pool are mainly invested in a short-term horizon. Hence maturities of assets and liabilities do not
match. UNFCCC did not agree on a specific investment approach for these reserves with United
Nations Treasury.

54. The Board is of the view that UNFCCC should develop a specific investment approach
for the after-service health insurance reserves to optimize the returns from the reserves. The
investment approach should identify the asset allocation strategy, such as the share of long-term
assets in the investment mix. It should include performance objectives for the reserve, the means
of monitoring of the objectives and, when necessary, modifying allocations and performance
objectives in the light of changing liabilities and market conditions.

55. The Board recommends that, in consultation with United Nations Treasury,
UNFCCC assess the possibilities of investment approaches within the cash-pool for the
reserves set aside to cover for the after-service health insurance liabilities.

56. UNFCCC agreed with the recommendation.

3.2. Calculation of the employee benefit liabilities
Plausibility check of the actuarial valuation report

57. The valuation of the employee benefit liabilities was conducted by an external actuary to
whom UNFCCC provided the census data, such as name, age, date of hire, type of employment.
UNFCCC is therefore responsible for the completeness and accuracy of the data. The actuaries’
responsibility is to calculate the liability from the data provided by UNFCCC. UNFCCC could not
explain how the actuary chose the eligible staff for ASHI and for repatriation benefits from the
provided data. Also, UNFCCC could not explain how the actuary calculated the average age and
seniority of the staff members. The Board noted that UNFCCC did not regularly carry out
verification checks of the census data and the actuarial valuation data. The Board is of the view
that UNFCCC should verify whether the actuary took into account the data as it was provided by
UNFCCC.

58. The Board holds that UNFCCC should validate whether the actuary has taken into account
all and accurate data for the actuarial valuation as an internal control mechanism. Given the high
value of the liability, this is important for the accuracy of the financial statements.
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59, The Board recommends that UNFCCC conduct and document a plausibility analysis
of the actuarial valuation of the employee benefit liabilities.

60. UNFCCC accepted the recommendation.
Accuracy of the provided census data

61. The eligibility of staff members for after-service health insurance is earned after five years
of participating in a contributory health insurance plan of the United Nations for staff hired before
July 2007 and ten years for staff hired after July 2007. Therefore, both service times of
participation in a contributory health insurance plan of other organizations in the United Nations
common system of salaries and allowances as well as cumulative contributory participation with
different types of appointment need to be taken into account.

62. The Board found that for the calculation the actuary did not use the years that a staff
member participated in a contributory health insurance plan of the United Nations. Instead, the
actuary used the date of hire to UNFCCC (for continuous appointments: the date of hire in the
previous organization) as a main parameter for calculating the liabilities.

63. The Board identified cases of staff members that had worked at other United Nations
organizations for several years but were only taken into account with their service years in
UNFCCC for the calculation of the after-service health insurance liability. The Board further noted
cases of staff members that were not taken into account for the calculation because they were
reappointed on a temporary appointment after retiring. Some of these staff members had served
decades at UNFCCC or in the United Nations system.

64. The Board holds that the entry date might be inappropriate to accurately reflect staff
members’ eligibility. Therefore, the calculation may not reflect the eligibility of those staff
members accurately. The Board is of the view that UNFCCC should consult with the actuary and
the respective focal point at United Nations Headquarters to enhance the data quality and the
reliability of the calculation.

65 The Board recommends that UNFCCC consult with the actuary and United Nations
Headquarters on the data basis for the actuarial valuation of employee benefits liabilities to
enhance the accuracy of the actuarial valuation.

66. UNFCCC agrees with the recommendation. UNFCCC stated that the issues brought to the
attention by the Board need to be discussed in a broader United Nations context.

Transfer of staff members between United Nations organizations

67. When a staff member is transferred from another United Nations system entity to
UNFCCC, the staff member keeps most of its earned allowances and entitlements (UNFCCC as
the receiving organization). The same is true for staff that separates from UNFCCC and is
transferred to other United Nations system entities. The leaving staff member keeps most of its
earned allowances and entitlements (UNFCCC as the releasing organization). The “Inter-
Organization Agreement concerning Transfer, Secondment or Loan of Staff among the
Organizations applying the United Nations Common System of Salaries and Allowances” (transfer
agreement) stipulates that the extent of each organization's liability for employers' contributions
to health insurance or social security schemes other than the Pension Fund will be agreed between
the two organizations in each case. The Board noted that UNFCCC did not routinely conclude such
agreements with the receiving or releasing organization.

68. UNFCCC stated that it had initiated action started to conclude agreements between the
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releasing and the receiving organization on a regular basis and provided a template to the Board.
The Board noted that the agreement only covered parts of the benefit liabilities incurred by the
staff members. In particular, for after-service health insurance liabilities, the template agreement
only refers to the general provisions of the transfer agreement.

69. While the Board welcomes that UNFCCC has concluded such agreements, the Board
holds that the transfer agreement stipulates that the extent of each organization’s liability need to
be agreed in each case. However, the transfer agreement did not contain stipulations on the share
of the liability of each organization. The Board is of the view that UNFCCC should agree on the
extent of each organization’s liability for all staff related liabilities. The Board holds that there
might be a risk that the receiving organization of a former UNFCCC staff will claim the liabilities
that were earned by the staff during the time he or she was a UNFCCC staff member. UNFCCC
should assess as to whether agreements with the organizations of incoming and leaving UNFCCC
staff should be concluded on a regular basis. A consultation with Legal Affairs and United Nations
Headquarters might be needed to gain legal assurance.

70. The Board recommends that UNFCCC assess, in consultation with United Nations
Headquarters, whether it is beneficial to conclude agreements with the organizations of
incoming and leaving UNFCCC staff to gain legal assurance on the employee benefit
liabilities incurred for those staff members.

71. UNFCCC agrees with the recommendation. UNFCCC stated that these issues needed to
be discussed in a broader United Nations context.

Accounting treatment of appendix D and death benefits

72. The United Nations provides compensation for employees that covers death, illness or
injury if service-incurred. The basis for these entitlements is Staff Rule 6.4, complemented by
Appendix D of the Staff Regulations and Rules (appendix D benefits). For United Nations
organizations outside the United Nations Secretariat, the United Nations Secretariat usually pools
the money by means of fees received from participating organizations and pays benefits to
individuals. The fees were paid by UNFCCC and returned because UNFCCC decided not to
participate in this mechanism. UNFCCC decided to handle the risks on its own with regards to
costs concerns. Therefore, it concluded a contract with a private insurance company that partly
covers the benefits. UNFCCC is obliged to cover the remaining amounts not covered by the
insurance.

73. The Board found weaknesses in the complex accounting treatment. For instance,
UNFCCC did not assess as to whether it was necessary to recognize a liability for appendix D
benefits in its financial statements for the potential part that might not be covered. The Board
further noted that the current accounting for appendix D benefits did not recognize the return of
the fees and the costs of the insurance in the statement of financial performance but directly in the
net assets. As a result, UNFCCC accrued a reserve of $1.2 million.

74. Death benefits need to be distinguished from the appendix D benefits that only cover
service-incurred death. The basis for the death benefit entitlement is staff rule 9.11 para. (a) (vii).
In case of death of a staff member, the surviving spouse or dependent children will receive the
monthly remuneration of the deceased staff member for a certain number of months, depending on
the number of years of service of the deceased staff member. In case a claim would be raised,
UNFCCC would have the obligation to pay the entitlement from its own funds.

75. As to death benefits, the Board found that the accounting differed from the treatment in
the United Nations Secretariat. UNFCCC recorded a liability of $0.1 million in its financial
statements.
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4.1.

76. The Board holds that the accounting of appendix D benefits should be reviewed and the
reserve should be used for other purposes of UNFCCC. The Board further holds that the main
assumptions on which accounting of death benefits should be the same within the United Nations
system in order to better compare the financial statements.

77. The Board recommends that UNFCCC review its accounting process for appendix D
benefits and for death benefits.

78. UNFCCC agreed with the recommendation.

Accounting of voluntary contributions and use of Umoja
Accounting policies and accounting treatment of voluntary contributions
Asset recognition criteria of voluntary contributions

79. UNFCCC receives voluntary contributions from Parties, multilateral organizations, the
private sector and other sources. Voluntary contributions are provided to UNFCCC in the form of
unrestricted regular resources and contributions earmarked for a specific programme or project.

80. UNFCCC applies an entity-specific IPSAS 23 policy (non-exchange transactions). The
contributions are recognized as an asset (cash or accounts receivable) when the agreement with
the donor was signed. The Board noted that the UNFCCC-specific IPSAS policy on IPSAS 23
referred to the following two asset recognition criteria: probability of future economic benefit or
service potential and reliable fair value measurement. The other two criteria according to IPSAS
23.30 “result of past events” and “control of the asset” were not mentioned.

81. The Board holds that the UNFCCC-specific IPSAS policies should cover all the criteria
that IPSAS covers in order to avoid the risk of not being IPSAS compliant.

82. The Board recommends that UNFCCC revise its accounting policies to ensure that
asset recognition criteria for non-exchange transactions are in line with IPSAS.

83. UNFCCC agreed with the recommendation.
Treatment of voluntary contributions

84. According to IPSAS 23.15, stipulations to donor agreements may be either conditions or
restrictions. UNFCCC’s policy distinguishes between conditional agreements (subject to
conditions) and non-conditional agreements (subject to restrictions).

85. The UNFCCC IPSAS policy stipulates that conditional agreements refer to specific
projects, often in specific countries, requiring the performance of specified activities. In addition,
funds not used for the specified purposes must be returned to the donor. On signature of the
agreement by both Parties, the amount covered by the agreement is recognized as both an asset
(accounts receivable or cash) and a liability (advance receipts). Revenue is recognized when the
conditions are met. The UNFCCC IPSAS 23 policy stipulates that all contributions from the
European Commission are considered to be conditional.

86. Non-conditional agreements refer to contributions from donors with general stipulations
that do neither require specific performance nor return of future economic benefits. No liability is

recognized to offset the receivable.

87. The Board noted that UNFCCC did not analyse the voluntary contributions on a case-by-
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case basis. Agreements with the European Commission were treated as conditional, in accordance
with its policies. All other agreements were treated as unconditional agreements and therefore, no
liability was recorded.

88. The Board is of the view that not only the agreements with the European Commission
should be treated as conditional agreements. UNFCCC should assess on a case-by-case basis
whether an agreement fulfils the asset and revenue recognition criteria as set in IPSAS 23 and in
the UNFCCC IPSAS 23 policy. A checklist could be developed to facilitate the assessment.

89. The Board recommends that UNFCCC review its voluntary contribution agreements
on a case-by-case basis as to all asset and revenue recognition criteria of IPSAS 23 and
document the decision whether to treat the agreement to be conditional or unconditional.

90. UNFCCC agreed with the recommendation.
Disclosure in the notes
91. IPSAS 23.106 requires the entity:

e todisclose the amount of liabilities recognized in respect of transferred assets subject
to conditions; and

e to disclose the amount of assets recognized that are subject to restrictions and the
nature of those restrictions.

92. The Board noted that UNFCCC did not disclose the amount of assets recognized that were
subject to restrictions and the nature of those restrictions in the financial statements.

93. The Board holds that the disclosure not only improves compliance, but also enhances
transparency. Therefore, UNFCCC should collect all the information to be able to enhance the
notes to the financial statement.

94. The Board recommends that UNFCCC disclose the amount of assets recognized that
are subject to restrictions and the nature of those restrictions in the notes to the financial
statements.

95. UNFCCC agreed with the recommendation and stated to start to disclose the information
as from the 2019 financial statements.

4.2. Use of Umoja for voluntary contributions
The grants management module in Umoja

96. UNFCCC receives voluntary contributions from Parties, multilateral organizations, the
private sector and other sources. These contributions are governed by agreements that UNFCCC
concludes with the donors. For each donor agreement, a “grant” is created in Umoja with details
on the respective donor agreement. More precisely, a grant is used to:

e store the terms and conditions of the agreement (e.g. date and amount of the
agreement, currency);

e define how the donor is billed based on the details of the agreement (e.g. date of
instalments) and how the agreement is treated in accordance with IPSAS 23 (e.g. on
conditionality, cf. para. 84ff; billing type);
monitor whether UNFCCC complies with the given restrictions of a donor agreement;
report back to the donor based on the donor’s requirements.
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97.

The Umoja grant management module offers different types of grants:

Simple grant (S grant) is used when the contribution stems from a single donor for a
specific project, with the currency USD. Creating a donor report via Umoja is
facilitated.

Resource mobilizations grant (R grant) is used for revenue of one donor that
contributes to a funding pool. It is applicable to any currency and needs to be linked
with an M grant for the expenditures.

Main implementation grant (M grant) is used to record pooled expenditures. Each M
grant is linked to multiple R grants for the revenue side. Reporting is done on pooled
expenditures without allocating them to each donor.

Information from the grant module is fed into the financial information module of Umoja that is
the basis of the accounts.

Analysis of grants created in 2018

98.

99.

100.

101.

Umoja.

102.

The Board extracted all 174 grants created in Umoja from 1 January 2018 to 31 December
2018, totalling to $52.1 million.* Out of these, three were created as S grants, 150 as R grants, and
21 were created as M grants.

The Board analysed the data and found the following weaknesses:

the donor agreements were not uploaded in Umoja;

important fields of the grants concerned were either left empty or were filled with
inaccurate information;

delayed creation of grants;

wrong currency of the grant;

wrong billing rule was used,

for single donor agreements, R type grants were used instead of S type grants;

R grants with no linkage to the Umoja referenced field for donor agreements.

The Board holds that the proper documentation of relevant information on donor
agreements is necessary for a sound management of the funds and in order to process automated
billing. UNFCCC should especially ensure that:

the grants are created in a timely manner and in the financial year to which they refer;
the grants are created with adequate information on: grant types, grant values,
currency, name of the sponsors and billing rules;

all S and R grants are linked to the Umoja referenced field for donor agreements;

all M grants are linked to R grants and no M grants are left unused.

The Board recommends that UNFCCC improve data quality of the grants created in

UNFCCC agreed with the recommendation.

3 Note that this amount reflects donor agreements created in 2018 and therefore systematically deviates from the figures in the
financial statements of 2018. The figures of the financial statements 2018 include also other agreements that
were created in previous years.

20
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Use of Umoja functionalities for donor agreements

103. The grant management module of Umoja offers specific functions to manage donor
agreements for voluntary contributions. The grants master report facilitates the monitoring of
grants. The master report lists the name, donor, status, duration / validity dates, currency and the
value of each grant. Umoja also allows for the donor agreements and other documentation to be
uploaded and added to the grant, and for automated Business Intelligence (BI) donor reporting.

104.  The Board noted that UNFCCC did not use the functionalities that Umoja offers. The
grants master report did not produce meaningful information due to inconsistent data inputs on the
grants (see para. 96ff). In consequence, UNFCCC downloaded data from different Umoja modules
to an Excel-based solution to monitor its grants.

105.  The Board also found that UNFCCC did not use the Umoja functionality for donor
reporting. Instead, UNFCCC prepared the donor reports by means of Excel sheets into which it
incorporated the expenditure data recorded in Umoja.

106.  The Board further noted that UNFCCC did not upload the underlying documentation to
Umoja. Instead, the documentation was kept outside of Umoja in Sharepoint. The Sharepoint
solution dates back to the time when Umoja had not yet been introduced.

107.  UNFCCC stated that uploading donor agreements to Umoja instead of Sharepoint would
be less efficient and effective. In many cases, copies of donor agreements would have to be
uploaded to Umoja multiple times -for each grant/project they relate to- and would be less
accessible than in Umoja. UNFCCC also stated that certain information could not be managed
efficiently and effectively in Umoja, for example pledges for future voluntary contributions and
project documents.

108. The Board holds that as an Enterprise Resource Planning System, Umoja should be used
to the widest possible extent. The process of downloading data from Umoja and combining it in
Excel based solutions in order to monitor the grants is cumbersome and prone to error. UNFCCC
should use the grants master report to monitor the grants and the standard Bl donor reporting. In
order to do so, UNFCCC needs to ensure that the quality of the data stored in Umoja is enhanced.
The Board is of the view no parallel systems for the management of donor agreements and for the
preparation of donor reporting outside Umoja should be maintained. UNFCCC should upload
documents that relate to donor agreements into Umoja. The Board is of the view that if UNFCCC
would create only one grant for each donor agreement and not split the donor agreement into
several grants, uploading documents such as donor agreements into Umoja would be facilitated.
Instead, UNFCCC splits a donor agreement into several grants. To avoid manual rework, UNFCCC
should use the possibilities that Umoja offers in order to provide for transparency and consistency.

109. The Board recommends that UNFCCC use Umoja to its full extent to manage the
donor agreements within Umoja, to store documents related to donor agreements and to

produce automated donor reports.

110.  UNFCCC agreed with the recommendation.

5. Assignment of Umoja roles
Assignment of Umoja roles

111.  The process to add, modify or delete Umoja users is called User Access Provisioning
process. Guidance to this process is given on the United Nations intranet iSeek. iSeek refers to the

21
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Umoja Roles Guide (roles guide)4. The roles guide “provides a detailed overview of each
transactional role, as well as training requirements, Delegation of Authority requirements and
Segregation of Duty role conflicts”. The supervisor or section chief has the duty to certify “that
the Segregation of Duties guidelines, as outlined in the Umoja Roles Guide [... ], are adhered to.”
The roles guide describes 240 different roles and contains numerous rules to be considered. The
roles guide specifies role conflicts on segregation of duty: certain combinations of roles must be
avoided to comply with the requirements for segregation of duty.

One case of role combination with the risk of segregation of duty issues

112.  The Board analysed the combinations of roles for UNFCCC Umoja users. 417 Umoja
users were mapped to 112 different roles. The Board found one combination that was not
recommended by the roles guide in order to ensure segregation of duty.?

113.  UNFCCC stated that due to the complexity of the subject the supervisor or section chiefs
could not be expected to certify compliance with segregation of duty. As the User Access
Provisioning tool provides a segregation of duty check when requesting Umoja roles, this task is
performed by the Security Liaison Officer, who should raise any segregation of duty violations to
the responsible supervisor or section chief.

114. Segregation of duty is a basis for an internal controls system to manage risk. Weaknesses
and non-compliance might lead to an unmitigated risk of errors and irregularities. Therefore,
UNFCCC should analyse this case carefully and balance the risk against the functionalities granted
by the roles combination.

115. The Board recommends that UNFCCC analyse the case of an Umoja user mapped to
a role combination seen as a risk for segregation of duty.

116. UNFCCC accepted the recommendation and stated that it considered this case a low risk
which the head of entity was entitled to accept. If any negative outcome resulted from such a “low
risk segregation of duty”, the head of entity would be held accountable.

Cases of redundant role combinations

117.  The Board found 21 cases of role combinations that were not recommended by the roles
guide because they granted users functionalities redundantly (“redundancy with embedded roles™).

118.  The Board considers that the higher the number of redundancies, the higher the risk to

lose overview and make the management of role assignment cumbersome and error-prone. The
guidance of the roles guide should be adhered to.

119. The Board recommends that UNFCCC make efforts to minimize redundancies with
embedded roles.

120. UNFCCC agreed with the recommendation.
Cases of maximum assignment of roles exceeded
121. The Board found eight users of the Finance Unit of UNFCCC who had been assigned the

role FA.13 (FA Month End User). According to the roles guide, this role should typically be
assigned to a maximum of four people per location only.

4The current version of the Umoja Roles Guide was Version 12.12.2018 during the course of the audit.
*Role combination FA.16, SD.10 and SD.11; see roles guide page 200, C. ii.
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122, The limitation of the number of users to be assigned to FA.13 is part of the internal control
system. Exceeding the limits could lead to an unmitigated risk of errors and irregularities.

123. The Board recommends that UNFCCC analyse the assignments to the Umoja role
FA.13 and limit the number of assignments in accordance with the Umoja roles guide.

124.  UNFCCC agreed with the recommendation and stated that it would review if all eight
users still required this role and stated to correct the role assignment accordingly.

6. Compliance of the specific human resources policies with the United Nations policies
Internship policy

125. As per April 2019, UNFCCC completed the revision of one policy: the Administrative
Guideline on Internship programme (internship policy, AG/2019/1); see para. 11. The revised
version contained one deviation from the respective United Nations policy (ST/AI/2014/1) relating
to the eligibility for recruitment due to visa requirements. This was approved by DMSPC as
required. The UNFCCC policy stipulated further that for all other matters the United Nations
policy was applied mutatis mutandis to UNFCCC.

126.  The Board found that initially UNFCCC had sought for approval of another exception
regarding the remuneration of interns for living expenses. There is no remuneration for internhips
at the United Nations; costs for living expenses are the responsibility of interns or their sponsoring
institutions (ST/AI/2014/1, para. 7.1). During the consultation process with DMSPC, UNFCCC
decided not to request for this exception. DMPSC confirmed the proposed restriction on the
eligibility of interns and its understanding that the remuneration query was cancelled.
Consequently, UNFCCC reflected the eligibility matter in its internship policy only.

127.  In February 2019, UNFCCC updated the related standard operation procedure that
specified UNFCCC’ internship policy. The Board found that in this standard operation procedure
UNFCCC introduced canteen vouchers as payments for interns (€50 per week).

128.  In UNFCCC’s view, offering free meals for interns did not violate the United Nations
policy on financial remuneration and would thus not require approval of DMSPC. UNFCCC stated
that this interpretation was based on a report from the Joint Inspection Unit encouraging entities
to consider providing, among other, a daily meal ticket for interns not from the local area or lacking
financial sponsoring.®

129.  While UNFCCC merely included the confirmed exception in its specific policy, it
introduced the other exception through the sub-ordinate standard operation procedure. The Board
holds that standard operation procedures cannot be used to set additional legal frames, but only to
clarify the provisions set out in the administrative guideline. Even if a report encouraged providing
for a meal voucher for interns and UNFCCC chose to introduce it, the rules must be adhered to.

130. The Board recommends that UNFCCC seek for approval by DMSPC for the
exception of providing voucher-based support to interns and adjust its policy including the
standard operating procedure accordingly.

131.  UNFCCC accepted the recommendation. UNFCCC confirmed that it would seek
DMSPC’s confirmation which treatment was appropriate.

6JIU/REP/2018/1, cf. recommendation 8, page 3.
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Policies on staff selection system

132. The selection of staff is regulated in the United Nations staff selection system
(ST/A1/2010/3, last amendment 2017). UNFCCC established its own staff selection system
(AG/2014/4) that includes the selection of consultants and individual contractors, the recruitment of
fixed-term and temporary staff (AG/2014/3) and the review board observing the selection process
(AG/2014/5).

133. In the communication on the internship policy (see para. 125ff), DMSPC pointed out that
UNFCCC had issued other internal administrative guidelines where no agreement had been
requested, such as the staff selection system.

134.  The Board is of the view that UNFCCC should close this legal gap with high priority in
order to avoid legal uncertainty, even more in the light of SBI’s view on the consultants’ policies
(para. 9). In addition to the compliance risks, we hold that deviating policies and tools might not
be efficient (para. 139ff).

135:. The Board recommends that UNFCCC adopt the United Nations staff selection
policies system in the then applicable version or request approval of deviations by end of
December 2019.

136.  UNFCCC accepted the recommendation.
7.  Efficiency of the recruitment process
Duration of recruitment process

137.  In 2018, UNFCCC conducted the recruitment for 33 fixed-term and 29 temporary
positions and internal transfers (1,400 applications in total). In addition, 379 consultants and
individual contractors’ contracts were processed.” The process is subject to the UNFCCC Staff
Selection System (AG/2014/4) and the standard operating procedure of 31 October 2014. The
Board reviewed the process of filling fixed-term positions in 2018.

138.  The Board found that the selection process for fixed-term positions took 246 days in
average, ranging between 91 and 419 days. This duration exceeded by far the 120-days target
promulgated by the General Assembly (A/RES/71/263). The 120-day target was met in only 3 out
of 33 cases. The Board noted that UNFCCC had a vacancy rate of 18 per cent in 2018 (para. 165
and graph 1).

Recruitment tools and shared services

139. UNFCCC uses separate self-developed ICT tools to support the selection processes for
staff and for consultants and individual contractors. These tools are based on UNFCCC-specific
policies and procedures. Data for the administration of staff and posts provided in these tools had
to be entered or uploaded manually in Umoja, such as data on staff, on staff history and on
contracts.

140.  The United Nations Secretariat and other United Nations entities use a centralized tool
called Inspira to support the recruitment process. The United Nations recruitment tool is a platform
both for staff and consultants. The workflow starts with the vacancy’s posting and candidate’s
application at the biggest platform for job candidates for the United Nations worldwide (UN
Career) encompassing also accessibility features. The tool covers the internal selection process
reflecting the United Nations policies and is connected to Umoja for the transfer of data. Manuals

7 Source: HR figures on UNFCCC Intranet (SIA), 15 April 2019.
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and training courses are developed and maintained centrally.

141. UNFCCC provided ICT cost calculations for its own tools of $54,876 in 2018, while
UNFCCC estimated the cost for the United Nations tool at $39,434 when considering the current
recruitment numbers. The Board noted that, however, a cost-benefit analysis on the use of the self-
developed recruitment tools in comparison to other United Nations tools was missing.

142.  In 2018, UNFCCC conducted 79 job classifications and 30 reference verifications.
UNFCCC did not estimate the duration of these tasks. Since 2018, there has been a service centre
in Bonn that provides services in the areas of job classifications and reference verification of job
candidates (OneHR). The Board found that UNFCCC had contacted OneHR.

143, The Board holds that the use of own ICT tools on recruitment does not seem to have
obvious positive effects on the length of the recruitment process. Also, a comparison of the
projected ICT costs shows a potential for financial savings. Further processes such as staff
development and performance appraisal processes could be streamlined through a comprehensive
system such as Inspira. The Board thinks that UNFCCC would benefit from implementing a United
Nations ICT system as a recruitment platform for both staff and consultants. This is true especially
when UNFCCC moves to applying the United Nations staff selection policies. In addition, vacancy
advertisements through the Inspira-based website “careers.un.org” would help UNFCCC to better
achieve the United Nations goal of selecting the best candidates worldwide. Inspira would also
help ensure more gender equality, geographical diversity and inclusion.

144,  The Board is of the view that UNFCCC should analyse the efficiency gains through
outsourcing adequate activities to a shared service centre. Although no data for measuring the
efficiency gains are available, a unit that performs a specialized task for a huge number of cases
can reasonably be expected to need less time for each individual case.

145.  The application of the United Nations policies is a pre-condition for using the centralized
tools and technical support of human resources shared services. The Board is convinced that
participating in centralized tools and services would enhance efficiency. In particular, maintaining
differing policies, standard operating procedures and manuals would be avoided.

146. The Board recommends that UNFCCC evaluate whether it is beneficial to use the
United Nations recruitment tool and to participate in shared human resources services where
possible.

147.  UNFCCC accepted the recommendation.
Key performance indicators used in 2018

148.  The Board found that UNFCCC had set some performance targets in its standard operating
procedure on recruitment and selection. For example, a duration of five days from receipt to
finalized job classification or five days from closing date of the vacancy announcement to
submission of eligible applications to the hiring manager was set. These performance targets
exclusively covered activities conducted in the human resources unit and did not cover the entire
recruitment process. In addition, no overall target was promulgated for the entire duration of the
recruitment process.

149.  The Board found that UNFCCC did neither measure nor monitor the performance
indicators defined in the standard operating procedure. As no data was collected in 2018, it was
not possible to specify whether the delays in the recruitment process were caused by the steps
conducted by the human resources unit or by other units involved in the process. Furthermore, it
was not possible to assess as to whether the performance of the human resources unit had increased
compared to previous years.
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150.  UNFCCC clarified that the first monitoring activities of key performance indicators were
instituted in the last quarter of 2018 and further monitoring actions would be strengthened in line
with the selection policy.

151.  In the Board’s view, the monitoring framework needs a general update. The
implementation of a monitoring framework including clear targets with measurable key
performance indicators and clear reporting process is mandatory to enhance the recruitment
process. The target to achieve the key performance indicators should be reflected in the work plans
of the human resources unit and/or in individual staff agreements e.g. as part of performance
appraisals. Performance data at relevant stages of the process is needed to help UNFCCC identify the
right potential for improvements and to enable decisions about participation on centralized tools
and shared services. In addition, UNFCCC should define a target for the entire duration as this is
the most important factor from applicants’ point of view. Therefore, UNFCCC should commit to
the 120-days target promulgated by the General Assembly since this target is used also by
DMSPC’s monitoring framework of the new delegations of authority to heads of United Nations
entities.

152 The Board recommends that UNFCCC establish a comprehensive monitoring
framework for the selection processes.

153. UNFCCC accepted the recommendation.
8. Reporting on the budget
Statement V of the financial statements

154.  IPSAS 24 “Presentation of budget information in financial statements™ applies to public
sector entities which are required or elect to make their approved budget(s) publicly available. The
objective is to “discharge the entities accountability obligations and enhance the transparency of
the financial statements”. In accordance with IPSAS 24, Statement V of the financial statements
presents a comparison of both original and final budgets and budget versus actuals.

155.  The budget of UNFCCC is adopted on a biennial basis. UNFCCC’s budget is prepared on
amodified accrual basis while the financial statements are prepared on a full accrual basis (cf. note
3.15 to the financial statements).

156.  In Statement V “Statements of Comparison of Budgets to Actual Amounts” of the
financial statements per 31 December 2018, the following budgets are disclosed on a modified
accrual basis:

e  Core budget (Trust fund),
e Trust fund for the International Transaction Log Budget, and
e Conference Service Contingency Budget.

UNFCCC stated that “the comparison is only made in respect of budgets adopted by the COP and
CMP” (note 19 to the financial statements). Statement V represents less than 50 per cent of the
entity’s revenues and expenses.
157.  UNFCCC has additional funding sources:

o four trust funds: trust fund for Supplementary Activities, trust fund for the Participation

in the UNFCCC process, trust fund for the Clean Development Mechanism, trust fund
for the Annual Contribution of the Government of Germany;
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e two special accounts: special account for Programme Support Costs, special account
for Conferences and other recoverable costs; and
e acostrecovery fund®.

Budget performance report

158.  Apart from the financial statements, UNFCCC reports on budget performance as at
30 June of each year. The budget performance reports are presented to the COP. The Board found
the following:

e The reporting period of the budget performance report represents 6 or 18 months and
therefore differs from both the period of the biennium and the reporting period of
the financial statements.

e The core budget and International Transaction Log allows for a comparison of
budget and actuals. For five funds, actuals are reported, but neither planned
expenditure nor income is included.

e For these seven funds and for the cost recovery fund, a comparison of approved
established posts and filled posts is included.

o The basis (cash or modified accrual or accrual) for budget and actual figures is not
defined for all reported figures.

e  The breakdown of income and expenditure differs among the funding sources.

159.  UNFCCC stated the following;:

e The reports on budget performance and programme delivery are considered by the
governing bodies during the budget period. They contain information that enables
the governing bodies to decide on any necessary adjustments to the programme
budget. Furthermore, the governing bodies could give guidance to the Executive
Secretary in the further implementation of the budget and work programme. Such
decisions/guidance would not be of any value after the end of the budget period.

e The cost recovery fund serves to account for specific internal services to other
programmes. It does not contain any additional funds.

e The basis for the budget and actual figures was consistent with past practice.

e The breakdown corresponds to its relevance with regard to the funding source.
Standardization would not add value for the consideration of the performance report
by the SBI.

160. The Board found weaknesses in the current reporting on actual figures versus budgeted
figures for all funds. The Board acknowledges that the budget performance report was designed
mainly for other purposes. However, the report does neither reflect the period of the biennium nor
the reporting period of the financial statements. This means that the assessment of the amounts
spent versus amounts planned is incomplete. Even if the periods were harmonized there would still
be a lack of information, due to the unavailability of planned figures for some funds, the unclear
reporting basis and the incomparable breakdown. UNFCCC could present an (additional) budget
performance report as per 31 December and enhance it in order to present a comparison of planned
figures and actual figures for all funding sources on a comparable basis. The Board holds that a
standardized breakdown by cost categories would improve the transparency.

161. The Board recommends that UNFCCC transparently report on actuals vs. budget
figures for all of its funding sources, taking into account differences of timing and reporting

basis.

162.  UNFCCC stated that the reports are not designed for reconciliation to the financial

8 Note 2.13 to the financial statements
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statements nor intended to be used as additional explanation of the financial statements. However,
UNFCCC acknowledged that the basis for the budgeted and actual figures could be spelled out in
future budget performance reports.

Occupancy rafe over the years

163. Staff expenditures represent the largest cost caf.egory9 amounting to $51.6 million. Staff
expenditures represented 57 per cent of the total expenses and 67 per cent of the core budget in the
year 2018, In its budget proposals (at least since 2008-09), UNFCCC used 98 per cent of the
standard salary costs to determine the budgeted personnel expenditure, reflecting the expected
occupancy rate. The occupancy rate is the ratio of filled poststo approved posts.

164. The Board found that neither the financial statements nor the budget performance report
include a comparison of budgeted and actual amounts for expenditures on staff. Howewver, Armex 1
to the budget performance report compares the approved posts established with the filled posts by
sowce of funding as at 30 June. The following graph showsthat the occupancyrate variedbetween
71 and 88 per cent over the last ten years. Hence, 12 to 29 per cent of the planned posts remained
vacant.

Graphl: Occupancy rate for all sources of funding

100,0%

70,0%

009 200 011 2012 2ms w014 201s 016 o ma
—tr=Total occupancy rate
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165. As at 30 June 2018, 433.5 posts were approved of which 355.9 posts were filled which
resulted in an occupancy rate of 82 per cent. The occupancy rated varied within the sources of
funding. For instance, it amounted to 86 per cent for the core budget and 54 per cent for the
supplem entary activities fund.

166. The Board noted that in its budget performance reports, UNFCCC did not assess the
difference between the expected and the actual occupancy rate. The occupancy rate is not a
petformance indicator of the work programme.

9 THRCCC ako ww th ®rm "o mmitment o’ inparticalsr fox Thmo j.
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167.  Given the high level of staff costs, the Board holds it is important to analyse the difference
between budgeted and actual posts carefully. UNFCCC should analyse any possible reasons for
the difference and the impact arising from unfilled posts in its budget performance reports. The
analysis should include the differing occupancy rates by funding sources. The difference between
the expected and the actual occupancy rate over the last years, without further analysis, may allow
conclusions on any excess personnel expenditures budgeted. Since the comparison of budgeted
amounts to actual amounts by cost categories is lacking in the budget performance report (cf. para.
158), the Board was not able to assess to what extent the budgeted personnel expenditure was
appropriate for the required posts.

168. The Board recommends that UNFCCC include an analysis of the reasons for the
differences between budgeted and actual occupancy rate and its impact in its budget
performance report.

169.  UNFCCC agreed to the recommendation. However, UNFCCC stated that the breakdown
adopted by the COP for the core budget represented the programmes and not the cost categories
such as staff costs. UNFCCC further stated that there were no approved staff budgets’ under other
UNFCCC funds. Comparing budget and actual amounts for the personnel expenditures would
therefore not be appropriate. Nevertheless, UNFCCC stated that an analysis of the deviation
between expected and actual occupancy rate could be valuable.

C. Disclosures by Management

Write-off cash, receivables and property, ex gratia payments

170.  UNFCCC reported to the Board that there were no write-offs of cash and losses of property
during the year ended 31 December 2018. Write-offs of receivables amounted to $0.4 million. Of
these, the majority related to unrecoverable loans under the CDM loan scheme. Respective supporting
documents were available for all cases. The write-offs were conducted in accordance with financial
rule 106.7 (a). The Secretariat stated that UNFCCC did not make any ex-gratia payment.

Cases of fraud and presumptive fraud

171.  Inaccordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA 240), the Board plans its audits
of the financial statements so that it has a reasonable expectation of identifying material misstatements
and irregularity (including those resulting from fraud). Our audit, however, should not be relied upon
to identify all misstatements or irregularities. Primary responsibility for preventing and detecting fraud
rests with Management.

172.  During the audit, the Board made enquiries of Management regarding their oversight
responsibility for assessing the risks of material fraud and the processes in place for identifying and
responding to the risks of fraud, including any specific risks that Management has identified or brought
to their attention. The Board also enquired whether Management had any knowledge of any actual,
suspected or alleged fraud. This includes enquiries of the Office of Internal Oversight. The additional
terms of reference governing external audit include cases of fraud and presumptive fraud in the list of
matters that should be referred to in its report.

173.  UNFCCC reported that in 2018 there had been an investigation by the Office of Internal
Oversight Service related to a presumptive fraud case of 2016. The report was brought to the attention
of the Board. UNFCCC reported that there was no further case of fraud and presumptive fraud for the
financial year ended 31 December 2018.
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Annex

Status of implementation of recommendations up to the year ended 31 December 2017

Audit report  Paragraph

Ratus after verification

Under Overtaken by Hot

No. year reference  Recommendations of the Board UNFCCC s response Board s assessment Implemented mplementation events implemented
1 2016 68 Evaluate the restructuring | eccons leamt from 2015 and  ©vertaken by event. X
process and drafl lessons g4 restructurings  with a UNFCCC plans to
learned from the ovised guidance provided. align the restructuring
restructurings of the SDM guidance with the
and ICT programmes before related United
contiming ~ with  further Nations policy. The
restructurings. Board will continue
observing this process
in the context of the
overall policy review
(refer para. 17T ).
2 2016 96 Formally designate a focal T foeal point for disability Implemented X
point on  disability and  repging with the Chief of
accessibility  issues  and g Resources  office.
nform sl members  yNFCCC made a formal
accordingly. announcement on its intranet.
3 2017 29 Assess additional suitable Implemented X

collaborative measures such
as payment plans to ensure
that the outstanding
contributions are recovered
in a timely manner and seek
approval from the COP on
installment plans.

The working capital reserve
was fully funded as at 31
December 2018 (€23

million) which was a result of

32 Parties pad their
outstanding contributions by
31 December 2017 and 51

Parties paid their outstanding
contributions by 31
December 2018.

Ongoing process with
further activities
expected. The Board
will further monitor
and report on the
process.
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Audii report

Paragraph

Ratur affer verification

Under Overtaks

oy

Hot

No. year reference  Recormendations of the Board UNFCCC s response Poard s assessment Implemented wmplementation events tmpiemented
(refer para. 29)
4 2017 30 Assess options fo clear the  ynpece implemented the Implemented X
small amounts of outstanding  1o.ommendation by writing
contributions. off $12 million which
related to the bank charges
for 42 Parties.
5 2017 35 Assess whether UNFCCC  (NFeCC asscssed the [T Implemented X
could benefit from an ICT system BPC, an Umoja
system  thal permits the oo ipcation, as uneconomic.
automated preparation of the
financial statements.
6 2017 43 Explore options for a “pre- UNFCCC stated that an early The Board welcomes X
close-oul”™ to amalyse and  poo goc would not be e decision o
clear its accounts. ellicient, however pre- continue clearing
closing activities helped to ~ accounts  during  a
clear pending items and “pre-close-out”.
identifyy errors early.
UNFCCC  will  continue
using this approach. It should
also be noted that the
resowrces situation in the
finance unit does not allow a
full and comprehensive
review of all areas prior to
the actnal closure of
accounts.
7 2017 60 Review its funding policy for 4 policy paper for after- Under X
after-service health (o ice health insurance iMmplementation

insurance and repatriation
liabilities, in particular the

funding was developed and
should be used to facilitate

(refer para. 42)
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No.

Auchi report Paragraph
year reference

Recormmendations of the Board

UNFCCC s response

Ratuy affer verification

Under Cvertaken by

Poard s assessiment

Hot

i events mipiemented

10

2017 61
2017 66
2017 74

duration of the accumulation
phase, and seek a COP
decision on the funding plan.

Enter into an agreement with
United Nations Headquarters
on the pooled fund for after-
service health insurance and
repatriation liabilities to have
a legal basis for its
contributions  and  the
corresponding
service.

scope  of

Enhance the note ‘Employee
benefits” to the financial
statements with additional
information  about  the
provision of funding of long-
term employee benefits.

Clarify the roles of audit
focal points at all levels; in
particnlar  update  the
delegation to a specific
function, preferably the
Deputy Executive Secretary,
and establish clear terms of
reference including division

the discussions with the
COP. It was discussed by
UNFCCC management but
not yet decided.

UNFCCC has recovered all
amounts previously collected
centrally  from  United
Nations Headquarters and
transferred  all related
balances into its own
employee benefits  funds.
UNFCCC will be managing
the reserves and related
payments for after-service
health
repatriation liabilities in its

insurance and

OWN acconnts.

The notes to the financial
statements  have been
amended to show the partial
funding of repatriation and
after-service health insurance
liabilities.

A drall  administrative
guideline on the delegation
of the function to the Deputy
[xecntive Secretary was
cleared by Legal Affairs
programme and is now with
the Txecutive Secrefary’s

Overtaken by event
Since UNFCCC now
manages the reserves
and payments for
health
insurance and
repatriation liabilities
in its own acconnts, a
formal agreement
with United Nations
Headquarters is not
needed (refer para.
49)

after-service

The changes can be
found in note 12 to the
financial statements;
however, the note can
be further enhanced
(refer para. 51).
Under
implementation
(refer para. 13)
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Audii report  Paragraph

No. year reference  Recormmendations of the Board

UNFCCC s response

Poard s assessiment

Ratur affer verification

Under Overtaken by ot
Impiemented rplementation events ripiemented

of responsibilities between
the Secretariat’s
management and the [ocal
points from the individual
programmes and ensure that
this information is
disseminated to all staff.
Critically examine policies
on hiring consultants and
individual contractors and
whether there is still reason
for maintaining them.

11 2017 88

12 2017 89 Adhere to the delegated
authority  including  the
required agreement of the
USG-AM and update its
guideline on consultants and
individual contractors in the
light of United Nations®
policies, should UNFCCC
confinue
applying its own policies.

Tnsure that no exceptions are
to be made from the
mandatory registration in the
roster, from proper
documentation and from the

conclude to

13 2017 109

34

office. It was put on hold
since October 2018 due to the
sltructure review process.

New policies from OHRM
expected in 2019. UNFCCC
will align with the United
Nations Secretariat once the
policies are released. If not
released by December 2019,
UNFCCC  will adopt the
existing United Nations
policies.

New policies from OHRM
expected in 2019. UNFCCC
will align with the Umnited
Nations Secretariat once the
policies are released. If not
released by December 2019,
UNFCCC will adopt the
existing United Nations
policies pending revision.

UNFCCC has ensured that
all consultants hired have
registered in the consultants”
roster. Continuous review of

documentation to indicate

Under
implementation
(refer para. 134)

When

recommendation
no. 11 has  been
implemented,  this
recommendation will
be overtaken by

evenlts.

Tmplemented
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Audii report Paragraph

Satur affer verification

Under Overtaken by Hot

No. year referense  Recommendations of the Board UNFCCC s response Poard s asvessment mplemented mplementation events implemented
mandatory competiive ~ competitive  process  Is
process for retired staff. ongoing with each consultant
engagement.
14 2017 117 Expedite the revision process  oneultations with United — Lhder X
ofits procurement policyand  yations | cadquarters  are implementation
procedures in order 10 ypder way. Completion
provide an up-to-date basis opoquled for 30 September
for its procurement activities. 509
15 124 Ensure that justification is Supported by the Umoja Implemented X
provided for all cases of non- system, for travel advance
cnmpli.am:e without purchase orders justifications
€xcepHon; are now mandatory and
provided for all cases of non-
compliance, including a
narrative in case of non-
predefined reasons.
16 131 Take action in order to e organization  sent The trend of the rate X
improve the completion rate messages to all staff remin-  W8¢ examined during
of the United Nations Basic ding them of the all United the final audit.
Security Training. Nations mandatory trainings
witha completion due date of
30 September 2018.
17 2017 138 Perform a  fraud nsk e organizational review is Under X
assessment in line with or on-going, with the fraud risk implementation

embedded in the enterprise
nsk management.

assessment being included in
the review. In the meantime.
the implementation of the
policy and monitoring is
coordinated by the office of
the Directar Administrative
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Satur afier verifieation

Audit report Paragraph Under Over Kot
No. year reference  Recommendations of the Board UNFCCC s resporse Board SEIMET mplemented riplementaticn iiplemente
Services.
18 2017 139 Dedicate an organizational Ty organizational review is Under X
function which coordinates, on-going, The assessment is implementation
implements and monitors the 1 404 in the review. In the
implementation of the ani- | oo the
fraud and anti-cormiption implementation of the policy
framework (focal point). aiid monitoring S
coordinated by the office of
the Director Administrative
Services.
Total 18 9 7 2 0
Percentage 100 50 39 11 0
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Chapter 111

Certification of the Financial Statements

The financial statements of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
(UNFCCC) for the year ending 31 December 2018 have been prepared in accordance with
financial rule 106.1. They include all trust funds and special accounts operated by UNFCCC.

A summary of significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these statements
is included as a note to the financial statements. The notes to the financial statements provide
additional information and clarification on the financial activities undertaken by UNFCCC
during the period covered by the statements, for which the Executive Secretary had
administrative responsibility.

I certify that the appended financial statements of the United Nations Framework Convention
on Climate Change for the year ending 31 December 2018 are correct.

(Signed) Patricia Espinosa
Executive Secretary
27 May 2019
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Chapter IV
Narrative financial report
Financial report on the 2018 accounts

Introduction

1. The financial statements of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate
Change (UNFCCC) are prepared in accordance with International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSAS) and are submitted to the Conference of Parties (COP) in accordance with
the financial procedures. The financial statements include all operations under the direct
authority of the Executive Secretary including the regular budget, extra-budgetary financed
activities and activities under the Sustainable Development Mechanisms.

2018 Financial Highlights

2018 Financial Results

Total revenue:
2 Revenue in 2018 totalled USD 99.1 million as follows:

(a)  The indicative contributions to the core budget of USD 33.4 million and USD
1.6 million to the budget of the International Transaction Log;

(b)  Voluntary contributions from donors totalled USD 46.9 million;
(¢)  Fees for the CDM and JI mechanisms USD 11.7 million.
3: Total expenses: Expenses in 2018 totalled USD 91.2 million mainly consisting:
(a)  Personnel expenses amounting to USD 51.6 million;
(b)  Travel USD 12.3 million;

(¢)  Contractual services for USD 15.3 million;

4, Both income on indicative contributions level as well as for fees for the CDM and II
saw an increase in 2018; a significant increase in voluntary contributions has been recorded
during the reporting period. This increase relates mostly to voluntary funding received in the
trust for supplementary activities (USD 32 million in 2018 compared to USD 18 million in
2017 but also in the trust fund for participation (USD 7.4 million in 2018 compared to USD
1.9 million in 2017). This was partly compensated with the significant decrease of funding
received under the special account for conferences and other events which had shown a
record high in 2017 due to the COP being held in Bonn for which UNFCCC had a larger
share of the overall expenses as for regular COP meetings (decrease from USD 19.1 million
in 2017 to USD 4.3 million in 2018).

5 Operating result: The surplus of revenue over expenditure in 2018 is USD 7.9
million (compared to a deficit of USD 9.7 million in 2017). The main reasons for this surplus
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are the significant increases of income recorded under the trust fund for supplementary
activities as well as under the trust fund for participation. The deficit under the Sustainable
Development Mechanisms was reduced from USD 7.9 million in 2017 to USD 5.5 million
in 2018. For 2018, service and interest cost for employee benefits amounted to USD 6.4
million recorded (USD 8.1 million in 2017). The special account for conferences and other
recoverable costs recorded a deficit of USD 4.6 million in 2018 as fund balances from 2017
have been spent during 2018. In addition, unspent funds of USD 4.5 million have been
returned to donors. The overall deficit was offset by actuarial gains amounting to USD 5.0
million as a result from the actuarial study.

6. Assets: Total assets as of 31 December 2018 increased by USD 6 million to USD 236
million compared to the balance at 31 December 2017 of USD 230 million. The major
components of UNFCCC’s assets are as follows (thousands of United States dollars):

Table 1
Summary of assets as at 31 December 2018
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2018 2017

Cash and cash equivalents 20168 14194
Investments 185523 186 121
Indicative contributions receivable 8679 5537
Voluntary contributions receivable 10234 4984
Other accounts receivable 1 456 1730
Other assets 8758 16 104
Property, plant and equipment 256 365
Intangible assets 891 1355
Total assets 235965 230391

7. The major assets at 31 December 2018 are cash, cash equivalents and investments

totalling USD 206 million representing 88 per cent of the total assets and indicative
contributions from signatories to the convention receivable of USD 8.7 million, or 3.7 per
cent. The remaining assets consist of other accounts receivable, other assets (primarily
advances), equipment and software.

8. Cash, cash equivalents and investments: Cash and cash equivalents as well as
investments of USD 206 million are primarily held in the UN Treasury main cash pool. While
the overall investments levels remain at the same level as at 31 Dec 2017, the share of short-
term investments has increased with a corresponding decrease in long-term investments.

9. Accounts receivable: Under IPSAS, accounts receivable from indicative
contributions are recognized net of a provision of 50 per cent for all amounts receivable for
three years and 100 per cent for all amounts receivable for four or more years. Delays in
receiving contributions for 2018 during the financial year resulted in an increase of indicative
contributions outstanding of USD 3.1 million or 57% when comparing to amounts
outstanding as at 31 December 2017.

10.  Other assets amounting to a total of USD 8.8 million mainly consist of prepayments
(USD 1.8 million) and the advances to the CDM loan scheme totalling USD 5.4 million. The
main reason for the decrease relates to advances issued for COP23 in Bonn which were
cleared during 2018.

11.  Liabilities: Liabilities as of 31 December 2018, totalled USD 93 million (USD 100
million as at 31 December 2017) as follows:
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Table 2
Summary of liabilities as at 31 December
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2018 2017
Accounts payable and accruals 4130 11115
Advance receipts 10379 10 500
Employee benefit liabilities 78 350 78 635
Other liabilities 0 8
Total liabilities 92 859 100 258

12. The most significant liability is the employee benefits earned by staff members and
retirees but not paid at the reporting date, primarily the liability for After Service Health
Insurance (ASHI). These liabilities total USD 63.8 million, represent 69 per cent of
UNFCCC’s total liabilities and are explained in detail in the respective note to the financial
statements. The level of overall employee benefit liabilities remained unchanged when
comparing to 2017 as the annual and interest service cost were offset by significant actuarial
gains on the liabilities as per the actuarial report.

13.  The other significant liability, advance receipts which covers indicative contributions
received in advance of the start of the year to which they are related, voluntary contribution
provided by donors that contain conditions requiring the return of funds not spent in
accordance with the terms of the agreement as well as fees received but not yet earned. The
balance represents the portion of the contribution at 31 December that has not been
recognized as revenue since it has not been earned by UNFCCC by performing the services
covered by the agreement.

14.  Delivery of goods and services at the end of 2018 was at the regular levels as the COP
was held in Poland, the corresponding level of accounts payable/accrual decreased
considerable compared to 31 December 2017.

15.  Net assets: The movement in net assets during the year shows an increase of USD 13
million from USD 130 million in 2017 to USD 143 million at the end of 2018 due to the
actuarial gains of 5.0 million and an operating surplus of USD 7.9 million. Net assets include
the operating reserves which amount to USD 49.1 million at the reporting date.

Core budget

16.  The Conference of the Parties approved a Core expenditure budget for the 2018-19
financial period, amounting to EUR 56.9 million. The approved budget for the International
Transaction Log for the 2018-19 financial period amounted to EUR 5.2 million.

17.  Asat 31 Dec 2018, the core budget showed for 2018 an implementation rate of 80 per
cent. This is a result of having to finance some of the activities originally planned for under
the core budget through supplementary funding received for this specific purpose.

18.  The regular budget as well as the budget for the international transaction log continues
to be prepared on a modified cash basis in accordance with the UN Financial Regulations.
The overall budgetary results for the first 12 months of the 2018-19 financial period are
summarized in Statement V-A to V-C. The differences between the net results on the IPSAS
(full accrual) basis and those in accordance with the adopted budget are explained in the
respective note to the financial statements.
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Chapter V

Financial statements for the year 2018

Statement I: Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2018

(Thousands of United States dollars)

Note 2018 2017
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 20168 14194
Short-term investments 5 172 128 141513
Indicative contributions receivable 6 8679 5537
Voluntary contributions receivable 6 5489 4014
Other receivables 6 1456 1730
Other current assets 7 8758 16104
Total current assets 216 678 183 093
Non-current assets
Voluntary contributions receivable 6 4745 970
Long-term investments 5 13396 44608
Property, plant and equipment 8 256 365
Intangible assets 9 891 1355
Total non-current assets 19 288 47298
TOTAL ASSETS 235965 230391
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables and accruals 10 4130 11115
Advance receipts 11 10379 10 500
Employee benefits 12 2 409 2679
Other current liabilities 14 0 8
Total current liabilities 16918 24 301
Non-current liabilities
Employee benefits 12 75 941 75957
Total non-current liabilities 75941 75957
TOTAL LIABILITIES 92 859 100 258
NET ASSETS
Accumulated surpluses/(deficits) 93973 81096
Reserves 17 49 134 49038
TOTAL NET ASSETS 143107 130133
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS/EQUITY 235965 230 391

Note: The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Statement II: Statement of Financial Performance for the year ended 31
December 2018

(Thousands of United States dollars)

Note 2018 2017
REVENUE 15
Indicative contributions 34974 30522
Voluntary contributions 46 892 40227
CDM and JI service fees 11660 8578
Interest Revenue 4092 271D
Gain on foreign exchange* 3304
Other/miscellaneous revenue 1433 353
TOTAL REVENUE 99 051 85698
EXPENSES 16
Personnel expenditure 51588 55444
Travel 12 297 9331
Contractual services 15280 25623
Operating expenses 1387 1 869
Other expenses 4019 2219
Depreciation of equipment 109 251
Amortization of intangible assets 464 464
Return/transfer of donor funding 5126 153
Loss on foreign exchange 887
TOTAL EXPENSES 91158 95354
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 78% (9 656)

Note: The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement III: Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the year ended 31
December 2018

(Thousands of United States dollars)

Accu?:f;ﬁi Reserves Total Net Assets

Balance as at 01 January 2018 81 096 49 038 130133

Surplus/(Deficit) for the current period 7894 7894

Adjustment Appendix D reserve 118 118

Actuarial gains (losses) on employee benefits liabilities 4962 4962
Adjustment to operating reverses amounts against accumulated surplus 22 22}

Balance as at 31 December 2018 93973 49134 143107

Note: The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement IV: Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 December 2018

(Thousands of United States dollars)

2018 2017
Cash flows from operating activities
Surplus/(deficit) for the period 7894 (9 656)
Depreciation expense 109 251
Amortization of intangible assets 464 464
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable (8119) (1399)
(Increase)/decrease in other assets 7345 (6 321)
Increase/(decrease) in payables and accruals (6 985) 6 850
Increase/(decrease) in advance receipts (121) (1226)
Increase/(decrease) in employee benefit liabilities 4795 8 838
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities (8) B
Net cash flows from operating activities 5376 (2195)
Cash flows from investing activities
(Increase)/decrease in equipment (273)
(Increase)/decrease in intangible assets
(Increase)/Decrease in short-term investments (30 615) (42 532)
(Increase)/Decrease in long-term investments 31213 3324
Net cash flows from investing activities 598 (39 481)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5974 (41 675)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 14194 55869
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 20168 14194
Overall increase/(decrease) 5974 (41 675)

Note: The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements V: Statements of Comparison of Budgets to Actual Amounts

A. Budget to Actual Comparison Core Budget for the year 2018

Original ’ ”

Budget Final Budget Actual - Difference ;.01 Budget  Final Budget fiual, Difference
2018+ (EUR) (EUR) (EUR) (EUR) (USD) (USD) (UsD) (UsD)
Executive Direction and Management 2353745 2606 525 2508 843 97 682 2812121 3114128 2968 291 145 837
Implementation and climate action cluster
Mitigation, Data and Analysis 7956 080 7 956 079 6993 578 962 501 9 505 472 9 505 471 8248281 1257 190
Finance, Technology and Capacity-Building 3010 180 3010180 2591783 418 397 3 596 392 3596 392 3061792 534 600
Adaptation 2677 500 2677 500 2677727 (227) 3198 925 3198925 3157261 41 664
Sustainable D evelopment Mechanisms 439 740 439 741 311 034 128 707 525376 525378 366 726 158 652
Subtotal imple mentation and climate action
cluster 14 083500 14083500 12574 122 1509378 16 826 165 16 826 165 14 834 060 1992 105
Intergovernmental and secre tariat
operations cluster
Legal Affairs 1076 800 1076 800 743 303 333 497 1286 499 1286 499 881 561 404 938
Conference Affairs Services 1699 035 1699 035 882 505 816 530 2029910 2029 910 1053242 976 668
Communication and Outreach 1715 660 1 620 660 904 733 715 927 2049773 1936272 1085010 851262
Information and Communication Technology 2723 900 2 566 120 1423272 1142 848 3254 361 3065 854 1709 658 1356 196
Administrative Services s - s - s - - -
Secretariat-wide operating costs 1644 030 1644 030 1209 778 434 252 1964 194 1964 194 1404 551 559 643
Subtotal intergovermmental affairs and
secretariat operations cluster 8 859 425 8 606 645 5163 591 3 443 054 10 584 737 10 282 730 6134022 4148708

Total appropriation 25296670 25296670 20246 556 5050 114 30223 023 30223023 23936373 6286650
Programme support costs (overheads) 3288 567 3288 567 2613924 674 643 3928993 3928993 3078944 850 049
Adj to working capital reserve 103 057 103 057

Grand TOTAL 28688294 28688294 22 860 480 S 724 757 34152 016 34152016 27 015317 7136 699
Contribution from the Host Government 766 938 766 938 766 938 - 916 294 916 294 916 294 -
Income from Indicative Contributions 27 921 356 27 921 356 27 921 356 = 33 358 848 33 358 848 33 358 848 -

Net re sult (budgetary) 7 259 825

* Further information is contained in notes 19 and 20.
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B. Budget to Actual Comparison International Transaction Log Budget for the year

2018
Qr]gmal and Actual Difference Ongmal and Actual Difference
Final Budget (BUR) (BUR) Final Budget USD) USD)
2018* (EUR) (USD)
Staff costs 807 130 722 546 84 584 964 313 853 552 110 761
Consultants 49833 345 49 488 59538 394 59 144
Travel of staff 15 000 2731 12 269 15921 3183 14 738
Experts and expert groups
Training 10 000 12155 - 2133 11947 14 979 - 3032
General operating expenses 1303610 889 407 414 203 1557 479 1031 315 526 164
Contributions to common services 120 000 110 609 9391 143 369 131 747 11622
TOTAL 2305573 1737770 567 803 2 754 568 2035170 719 398
Programme support costs (overheads) 299724 220 165 79 560 358 094 262 190 95 904
Adjustment to working capital reserve (6078
Grant TOTAL 2 599219 1957935 647 363 3112 661 2297360 815 301
Income from Indicative Contributions 1352 260 1352 260 - 1615 603 1615 603 -
Net result (budgetary) (681 757)

* Further information is contained in notes 19 and 20.
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C. Budget to Actual Comparison Conference Services Contingency Budget for the

year 2018
Original and Original and
Final Budget ~ Actual Difference Final Budget Actual  Difference
2018%* (EUR) (EUR) (EUR) (USD) (USD) (USD)
Object of expenditure
Interpretation 1175300 1175 300 1404 182 1404 182
Documentation
Translation 1944800 1 944 800 2323536 2323 536
Reproduction and distribution 668 300 668 300 798 447 798 447
Meetings service support 249 000 249 000 297 491 297 491
Subtotal 4037 400 0 4 037 400 4 823 656 0 4823656
Programme support costs 524900 524 900 627121 627121
Working capital reserve 378 700 378 700 452 449 452 449
Total 4 941 000 0 4 941 000 5903 226 0 5903226

*Further information is contained in notes 20 and 24.
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United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

Notes to the Financial Statements

Note 1: The Reporting Entity

19.  The permanent secretariat of the United Nations Convention on Climate Change
(UNFCCC) was established in January 1996 for the following purposes:

(a) To make arrangements for sessions of the Conference of the Parties and its
subsidiary bodies established under the Convention, the Kyoto Protocol and the Paris
Agreement and to provide them with services as required,

(b)  To compile and transmit reports submitted to it;

(¢)  To facilitate assistance to Parties particularly developing country Parties on
request in the compilation and communication of information required in accordance with
the provisions of the Convention, the Kyoto Protocol and the Paris Agreement;

(d)  To prepare reports on its activities and present them to the Conference of the
Parties;

(e)  To ensure the necessary coordination with the secretariats of other relevant
international bodies;

3] To enter, under the overall guidance of the Conference of the Parties, into such
administrative and contractual arrangements as may be required for the effective discharge
of its functions;

(g)  To perform other secretariat functions specified in the Convention and in any
of its protocols; and

(h)  To undertake any other functions as may be determined by the Conference of
the Parties

20.  UNFCCC is governed by the following constituent bodies:

(@)  The Conference of the Parties (COP) is the supreme decision-making body
of the Convention. All States that are Parties to the Convention are represented at the COP,
at which they review the implementation of the Convention and any other legal instruments
that the COP adopts and take decisions necessary to promote the effective implementation of
the Convention, including institutional and administrative arrangements.

(b)  The Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the
Kyoto Protocol (CMP): All States that are Parties to the Kyoto Protocol are represented at
the CMP, while States that are not Parties participate as observers. The CMP reviews the
implementation of the Kyoto Protocol and takes decisions to promote its effective
implementation.

(¢)  The Subsidiary Body for Implementation (SBI) is one of two permanent
subsidiary bodies to the Convention established by the COP/CMP. It supports the work of
the COP and the CMP through the assessment and review of the effective implementation of
the Convention and its Kyoto Protocol. A particularly important task in this respect is to
examine the information in the national communications and emission inventories submitted
by Parties in order to assess the Convention’s overall effectiveness. The SBI reviews the
financial assistance given to non-Annex I Parties to help them implement their Convention
commitments, and provides advice to the COP on guidance to the financial mechanism
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(operated by the Global Environment Facility - GEF). The SBI also advises the COP on
budgetary and administrative matters.

(d)  The Conference of the Parties, the supreme body of the Convention, shall serve
as the meeting of the Parties to the Paris Agreement (CMA). All States that are Parties to
the Paris Agreement are represented at the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting
of the Parties to the Paris Agreement (CMA), while States that are not Parties participate as
observers. The CMA oversees the implementation of the Paris Agreement and takes decisions
to promote its effective implementation.

()  The Bureau of the COP and CMP supports the COP, CMP and the CMA
through the provision of advice and guidance regarding the on-going work under the
Convention and its Kyoto Protocol, the organization of their sessions and the operation of the
secretariat, especially at times when the COP and the CMP are not in session. The Bureau is
elected from representatives of Parties nominated by each of the five United Nations regional
groups and small island developing States. The Bureau is mainly responsible for questions
of process management. It assists the President in the performance of his or her duties by
providing advice and by helping with various tasks (e.g. members undertake consultations
on behalf of the President). The Bureau is responsible for examining the credentials of
Parties, reviewing the list of intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations, seeking
accreditation and submitting a report thereon to the Conference

21.  UNFCCC is financed by indicative contributions paid by Parties to the Convention,
fees derived from services provided by the Organization and voluntary contributions from
Parties to the Convention and the Kyoto Protocol and other donors.

22.  The Organization enjoys privileges and immunities as granted under the 1947
Convention on Privileges and immunities of the United Nations and the 1996 Headquarters
agreement with the Federal Government of Germany, notably being exempt from most forms
of direct and indirect taxation.

Note 2: Basis of Preparation

23.  The financial statements of the UNFCCC have been prepared on the accrual basis of
accounting in accordance with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS)
using the historic cost convention. The statements are prepared on a going concern basis
given the approval by the Conference of Parties of the Programme Budget appropriations for
the Biennium 2018-2019, the historical trend of collection of indicative and voluntary
contributions over the past years and that the Conference of Parties has not made any decision
to cease operation of UNFCCC.

24.  Inaccordance with IPSAS, the 2018 financial statements are presented on an annual
basis covering the period 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018. These financial statements
are certified by the Executive Secretary. The financial statements are submitted to the United
Nations Board of Auditors on 31 March 2019. Sequentially, the report of the Board of
Auditors together with the audited financial statements are submitted to the Conference of
the Parties.

25.  The Cash Flow Statement is prepared using the indirect method.

26.  Due to rounding, numbers presented throughout this document may not add up
precisely to the totals provided and percentages may not precisely reflect the absolute figures.

2.1  Functional and Presentation Currency

27.  The financial statements are presented in United States dollars, which is the functional
and presentation currency of UNFCCC.
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2.2 Foreign Currency Translation

28.  Transactions in currencies other than United States dollar are translated into United
States dollar at the prevailing United Nations Operations Rates of Exchange (UNORE) which
represents the prevailing rate at the time of transaction. Assets and liabilities in currencies
other than United States dollar are translated into United States dollar at the UNORE year-
end closing rate. Resulting gains and losses are accounted for in the Statements of Financial
Performance.

29.  The Core budget and the budget for the International Transaction Log are approved
and assessed in euros. The contingency budget for conference services of UNFCCC is
approved by the Conference of the Parties (COP). However, funds are not accessed unless
required. Information on the Statements of Budget to Actual Comparisons for each budget
are presented on both euros and United States dollars.

30.  For statements V, euro amounts from the approved budgets for the original and final
budget are converted to USD using the UNORE as at 1 January 2019 while the euro amounts
for the actuals are converted to USD using the applicable monthly UNORE rate at the time
of the transaction.

2.3  Materiality and the use of judgement and estimates

31.  Materiality is central to the UNFCCC financial statements. The financial statements
necessarily include amounts based on judgments, estimates and assumptions by management.
Actual results may differ from these estimates. Changes in estimates are reflected in the
period in which they become known. Accruals, equipment depreciation and employee benefit
liabilities are the most significant items for which estimates are utilized.

Note 3: Significant Accounting Policies
3.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents

32.  Cash and Cash equivalents are held at fair value and comprise cash on hand, cash at
banks, money market and short-term deposits. Investment revenue is recognized as it accrues
taking into account the effective yield.

3.2 Financial Instruments

33.  Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent measurement of
all financial instruments is at fair value except for accounts receivable and accounts payable,
which are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method except for indicative
and voluntary contributions balances which are recognized at nominal value (proxy to fair
value at the time of recognition).

34.  Financial instruments are recoghized when UNFCCC becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument until the rights to receive cash flows from those
assets have expired or have been transferred and UNFCCC has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership.

35, The Main cash pool comprises participating entity shares of cash and term deposits,
short-term and long-term investments and accrual of investment income, all of which are
managed by the UN Treasury. UNFCCC’s share of the cash pool is disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements and on the Statement of Financial Position categorized as cash and
cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments.

36.  Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial instruments are
included within the statement of financial performance in the period in which they arise.
Gains or losses arising from a change in the fair value of the financial assets held in the Main
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Cash Pool are presented in the Statement of Financial Performance in the period in which
they arise as finance costs if net loss or investment revenue if net gain.

37.  Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. UNFCCC’s receivables comprise indicative
contributions receivable from member countries and other accounts receivable recognized on
the Statement of Financial Position. Receivables are measured at amortized cost taking into
account a provision for impairment.

3.3 Inventories

38.  UNFCCC does not maintain an inventory of tangible assets that are held for resale or
consumed in the distribution in rendering of services. Should inventories be recognized in
future financial statements, these inventories would be recognized at the lower of cost and
net realizable value or at the lower of cost and current replacement cost.

3.4  Property, Plant and Equipment

39.  Equipment with a cost above USD 5,000 is stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. UNFCCC is deemed to control equipment if it can
use or otherwise benefit from the asset in the pursuit of its objectives and if UNFCCC can
exclude or regulate the access of third parties to the asset.

40.  Depreciation is calculated over their estimated useful life of equipment using the
straight-line method.

Table 1
The estimated useful life for equipment classes

Estimated useful live
Class of equipment (in years)
Computer equipment 5
Communication and audio equipment 5
Furniture and fittings 10
Vehicles 10

10 (or lease term,

Leasehold improvements siicheveriibedien

3.5 Intangible Assets

41.  Intangible assets are valued at historical cost less accumulated amortization and any
impairment losses. Intangible assets acquired externally are capitalised if their costs exceed
the threshold of USD 5,000. Internally developed software is capitalized if its cost exceeded
a threshold of USD 100,000 excluding research and maintenance costs and including directly
attributable costs such as staff assigned full time to a development projects, subcontractors
and consultants.

42.  Amortization is provided over the estimated useful life using the straight-line method.

Table 2
The estimated useful lives for intangible asset classes

Estimated useful life

Class of intangible assets (in years)
Software acquired externally 5
Internally developed software 3-5
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Set 8 years or period of
Copyrights copyright, whichever is
shorter

43, Impairment is assessed at each reporting date for all intangible assets based on
indications that an asset may be impaired and any impairment losses are recognized in the
Statement of Financial Performance.

3.6  Payables, advance receipts and accruals

44.  Accounts payable are financial liabilities in respect of either goods or services that
have been acquired and received by UNFCCC and for which the invoices have been received
from the suppliers. They are initially recognized at fair value and, when applicable,
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. As the accounts
payable of UNFCCC generally fall due within 12 months, the impact of discounting is
immaterial, and nominal values are applied to initial recognition and subsequent
measurement.

45.  Accruals are liabilities for goods and services that have been received or provided to
UNFCCC during the year and have not been invoiced by suppliers as at the reporting date.

46.  Advance receipts are prepayments from customers, parties or donors for subsequent
periods.

3.7  Employee Benefits
47.  UNFCCC provides the following employee benefits:

(@) Short Term employee benefits comprise first-time employee benefits
(assignment grants), regular monthly benefits (wages, salaries, allowances), compensated
absences (annual and paid sick leave, maternity/paternity leave) and other short-term benefits
(education grant, reimbursement of taxes) which fall due wholly within twelve months after
the end of the accounting period in which employees render the related service;

(b)  Post-Employment benefits including ASHI, repatriation grant, separation
related travel and shipping costs and death benefit;

(¢)  Other Long-Term employee benefits including accumulated annual leave
payable on separation; and

(d)  Termination benefits include indemnities for voluntary redundancy payable
once a plan has been formally approved.

48.  The liability recognized for post-employment benefits is the present value of the
defined benefit obligations at the reporting date. An independent actuary using the projected
unit credit method calculates the defined benefit obligations. The present value of the defined
benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates of high-grade corporate bonds with maturity dates approximating those of the
individual plans.

49.  Employee benefits including payments to staff members on separation from service
such as repatriation grant, accrued annual leave, repatriation travel and removal on
repatriation are expensed on an accrual basis.

50.  Actuarial gains and losses related to post-employment benefits for after service health
insurance are recognised in the period in which they occur on the statement of changes in net
assets as a separate item in net assets/equity.

51.  UNFCCC is a member organization participating in the United Nations Joint Staff
Pension Fund (UNJSPF), which was established by the United Nations General Assembly to
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provide retirement, death, disability and related benefits to employees. The Fund is a funded,
multi-employer defined benefit plan. As specified by Article 3(b) of the Regulations of the
Fund, membership in the Fund shall be open to the specialized agencies and to any other
international, intergovernmental organization which participates in the common system of
salaries, allowances and other conditions of service of the United Nations and the specialized
agencies.

52.  The Fund exposes participating organizations to actuarial risks associated with the
current and former employees of other organizations participating in the Fund, with the result
that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, plan assets, and
costs to individual organizations participating in the plan. UNFCCC and the UNJSPF, in line
with the other participating organizations in the Fund, are not in a position to identify
UNFCCC’s proportionate share of the defined benefit obligation, the plan assets and the costs
associated with the plan with sufficient reliability for accounting purposes. Hence UNFCCC
has treated this plan as if it were a defined contribution plan in line with the requirements of
IPSAS 39. UNFCCC’s contributions to the Fund during the financial period are recognized
as expenses in the Statement of Financial Performance.

3.8 Provisions

53.  Provision are made for future liabilities and charges where UNFCCC has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and is probable that UNFCCC will
be required to settle the obligation, and the value can be reliably measured.

3.9  Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

54.  Contingent liabilities where their existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events that are not wholly within the control
of UNFCCC or where the value cannot be reliably estimated are disclosed in the Notes to the
financial statements. Contingent liabilities are assessed continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources has become probable. If an outflow becomes probable, a provision is
recognized in the financial statements in the period in which probability occurs.

3.10 Leases

55.  Leases, where the lessor retains a significant portion of the risks and rewards inherent
in ownership, are classified as operating leases. Payments, made under operating leases are
charged on the Statement of Financial Performance as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease.

3.11 Non-exchange revenue and receivables

56. Indicative contributions to the Core budget and to the Trust Fund for the
International Transaction Log from Parties to the Convention are recognised at the beginning
of the year to which the assessment relates. The revenue amount is determined based on the
approved budgets and the scale of assessment approved by the General Assembly as adopted
by the Conference of the Parties.

57.  Voluntary contributions are recognised upon the signing of a binding agreement
with the donor. Revenue is recognised immediately if no condition is attached. If conditions
are attached, including a requirement that funds not utilized in accordance with the agreement
must be returned to the contributing entity, revenue is recognised only upon satisfying the
conditions. Until such conditions are met a liability (deferred revenue) is recognised.
Voluntary contributions such as pledges and other promised donations which are not
supported by binding agreements are considered contingent assets and are recognised as
revenue when received and disclosed in the Notes to the financial statements if receipt is
considered probable.
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58.  Multi-year voluntary conditional contributions due in future financial periods are
recognized as receivables on the signing of the agreement along with a liability (deferred
revenue) until the conditions are met.

59.  Goods in kind are recognised at their fair value, measured as of the date the donated
assets are acquired. Services in kind are not recognized on the face of the statements but as
note disclosure describing the services received

60.  Receivables are stated at amortized cost less allowances for estimated irrecoverable
amounts.

3.12 Exchange revenue

61. Revenue from the fees charged in connection with the Clean Development
Mechanism (CDM) and the Joint Implementation Determination (JI) is recognized upon
completion of the underlying service for which the fee has been charged. A liability is
established covering the estimated amount of fees reimbursable to the applicant. Interest
income is recognized on a time proportion basis as it accrues, taking into account the effective
yield.

3.13 Expenses

62.  Expenses arising from the purchase of goods and services are recognized when the
services or goods have been received and accepted by UNFCCC. Service are considered
received on the date when the service is certified as rendered. For some service contracts this
process may occur in stages.

3.14 Segment reporting

63.  UNFCCC is a single purpose entity with a mandate to assist the signatories of the UN
Framework Convention on Climate Change to limit average global temperature increases and
the resulting climate change, and to cope with whatever impacts are inevitable in part through
enforcing the legally binding emission reduction targets established in the Kyoto Protocol.
Its operations, therefore, consist of a single segment. However, to provide additional
information for use to senior management and Parties to the Convention and Kyoto Protocol,
supplemental disclosures are prepared on a fund accounting basis, showing at the end of the
period the consolidated position of all UNFCCC funds. A fund is a self -balancing accounting
entity established to account for the transactions of a specified purpose or objective. Fund
balances represent the accumulated residual of revenue and expenses.

64.  UNFCCC classifies all projects, operations and fund activities into ten funds and
special accounts:

(@) Trust fund for the Core Budget of UNFCCC financed from indicative
contributions (or general purpose contributions from donors);

(b) Trust fund for Supplementary Activities financed from voluntary
contributions;

(¢)  Trust fund for the Participation in the UNFCCC process financed from
voluntary contributions;

(d)  Trust fund for the Clean Development Mechanism financed from fees charged
for registration of projects and issuance of certificates;

(e)  Trust fund for the International Transactions Log financed from indicative
contributions (or general purpose contributions from donors);
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63) Trust fund for the Special Annual Contribution from the Government of
Germany financed from a voluntary contribution from the government in which the
UNFCCC headquarters is located;

(g)  Special account for Programme Support Costs financed from charges made to
the activities financed from indicative and voluntary contributions as well as fee financed
activities;

(h)  Special account for conferences and other recoverable costs financed from
voluntary contributions; and

@) Cost recovery fund financed from charges made to the activities financed from
indicative and voluntary contributions;

)] End of service and post employee benefits fund currently not fully funded.

65.  Transactions occurring between funds are accounted for at cost and eliminated on
consolidation.

66.  UNFCCC reports on the transactions of each fund during the financial period, and the
balances held at the end of the period.

3.15 Budget comparison

67.  UNFCCC's budget is prepared on a modified accrual basis based on the applicable
financial regulations and rules while the financial statements are prepared on a full accrual
basis. Under the modified accrual basis, expense is recognized on the obligation principle,
i.e. when the organization enters into a financial commitment to obtain goods or services.
Costs of equipment acquisition are expensed when the equipment has been delivered and
expense does not include costs related to changes in provisions for employee benefits
liabilities or changes related to additions to or consumption of inventories. Income is
recognized as per para 56 ff. also for statement V.

68.  The budget is adopted on a biennial basis and presented in annual estimates in the
financial statements. Unexpended balances at the end of the first year of the biennium are
carried forward and added to the annual budget estimate for the second year of the biennium.

69.  Statements V-Ato V-C, Comparison of budget and Actual amounts, compare the final
budget to actual amounts calculated on the same basis as the corresponding approved budget.

70.  As the basis used to prepare the budget and financial statements differ, Note 19
provides reconciliation between the actual amounts presented in statement V-A to V-C and
the actual amounts presented on the Statement of Financial Performance.

71.  The COP approves the biennial Core budget and the contingent budget for Conference
Services. The CMP approves the budget for the International Transaction Log. Budgets may
be subsequently amended by the COP or CMP, as applicable, or through the exercise of
delegated authority.

3.16 IPSAS 39 introduction for the financial year 2018

72.  The IPSAS Board issued IPSAS 39 Employee Benefits in 2016 effective 1 January
2018. The replacement of IPSAS 25 by IPSAS 39 does not affect the presentation of the
employee benefits since the “corridor method” on actuarial gains or losses, which has been
eliminated, has never been applied by UNFCCC. The organization does not have any plan
assets; therefore, there is no impact from application of the net interest approach described
by the standard.

Note 4: Financial Risks
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4.1 Financial risk factors

73.  UNFCCC’s operations may expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including foreign exchange risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

42  Market risk
Foreign exchange risk

74.  UNFCCC operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the euro. Foreign exchange risk
arises from operating revenue and expenses and recognized assets and liabilities.
Management requires that the Organization manage its currency risk against its functional
currency by structuring contributions from its owner organizations and its technical
cooperation project donors to correspond to the foreign currency needed for operational

purposes.

75.  Asof 31 December 2018, if the US dollar had weakened/strengthened by 5 per cent
against the euro with all other variables held constant, the impact on net assets would have
been USD 0.8 million higher/lower due to the change in the asset value of receivables
denominated in euro.

Price risk

76.  The Organization may be exposed to price risk because of investments held in the
Main cash pool which are classified in the Statement of Financial Position at fair value
through surplus or deficit. The share of any realized loss or gain on the Organization’s
holdings in the Main cash pool is recognized in surplus or deficit.

Interest rate risk

77.  The organization earns interest revenue derived from surplus balances that it
maintains in operational and non-operational cash holdings throughout the year. The
implementation of UNFCCC’s programme and budget is not directly dependent on interest
earnings.

4.3 Credit risk

78.  Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty to a financial instrument will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Institute. The carrying value of
financial assets equates to the maximum exposure to credit risk as at balance date. The
Organization does not hold any collateral as security.

Other credit risk disclosure

79.  Voluntary contributions from governments representing the member countries of the
Organization comprise the majority of the Organization’s voluntary contributions receivable.
Credit risk is considered minimal since most of its donors are sovereign entities.

4.4  Liquidity risk

80.  Cash flow forecasting is performed by the Organization in conjunction with the
United Nations Office at Geneva (UNOG) which monitors rolling forecasts of liquidity
requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs. There are no
restrictions on the amount that UNFCCC may withdraw at any time after providing the UN
Treasury with several days’ notice.
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4.5  Cash Pools

81.  In addition to directly held cash and cash equivalents and investments, the United
Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (“UNFCCC”) participates in the United
Nations Treasury main pool. The main pool comprises of operational bank account balances
in a number of currencies and investments in United States dollars.

82.  Pooling the funds has a positive effect on overall investment performance and risk,
because of economies of scale, and by the ability to spread yield curve exposures across a
range of maturities. The allocation of cash pool assets (cash and cash equivalents, short-term
investments and long-term investments) and revenue is based on each participating entity’s
principal balance.

83.  Asat31 December 2018, UNFCCC participated in the main pool that held total assets
of $7,504.8 million (2017: $8,086.5 million), of which $206.5 million was due to the
Organization (2017: $202.7 million), and its share of revenue from the main pool was $4.1
million (2017: $2.6 million).
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Table 3
Summary of assets and liabilities of the Cash Pools as at 31 December 2018
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Main pool
Fair value through the surplus or deficit
Short-term investments 6 255 379
Long-term investments 486 813
Total fair value through the surplus or deficit investments 6 742 192
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents 732 926
Accrued investment revenue 29 696
Total loans and receivables 762 622
Total carrying amount of financial assets 7504 814
Cash pool liabilities
Payable to UNFCCC 206 508
Payable to other cash pool participants 7 298 306
Total liabilities 7504 814
Net assets -
Table 4

Summary of net income and expenses of the Cash Pools for the year ended 31 December 2018
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Main pool
Investment revenue 152 805
Unrealized gains/(losses) 3852
Investment revenue from main pool 156 657
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) 854
Bank fees (805)
Operating gains / losses from main pool 49
Net income from cash pools 156 706
Table 5
Summary of assets and liabilities of the Cash Pools as at 31 December 2017
(Thousands of United States dollars)
Main pool
Fair value through the surplus or deficit
Short-term investments 5645952
Long-term investments 1779 739
Total fair value through the surplus or deficit investments 7 425 691

Loans and receivables
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Main pool
Cash and cash equivalents 636 711
Accrued investment revenue 24098
Total loans and receivables 660 809
Total carrying amount of financial assets 8 086 500
Cash pool liabilities
Payable to UNFCCC 202 684
Payable to other cash pool participants 7883816
Total liabilities 8 086 500
Net assets -
Table 6

Summary of net income and expenses of the Cash Pools for the year ended 31 December 2017
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Main pool

Investment revenue 104 576
Unrealized gains/(losses) 874
Investment revenue from main pool 105 450
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) 7824
Bank fees (853)
Operating expenses from main pool 6971
Net income from cash pools 112 421

Financial risk management

84.  The United Nations Treasury is responsible for investment and risk management for
the Cash Pools, including conducting investment activities in accordance with the Guidelines.

85.  The objective of investment management is to preserve capital and ensure sufficient
liquidity to meet operating cash requirements while attaining a competitive market rate of
return on each investment pool. Investment quality, safety and liquidity are emphasized over
the market rate of return component of the objectives.

86.  Aninvestment committee periodically evaluates investment performance and assesses
compliance with the Guidelines and makes recommendations for updates thereto.

Financial risk management: credit risk

87.  The Guidelines require ongoing monitoring of issuer and counterparty credit ratings.
Permissible Cash Pool investments may include, but are not restricted to, bank deposits,
commercial paper, supranational securities, government agency securities and government
securities with maturities of five years or less. The Cash Pools do not invest in derivative
instruments such as asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities or equity products.

88.  The Guidelines require that investments are not to be made in issuers whose credit
ratings are below specifications, and also provide for maximum concentrations with given
issuers. These requirements were met at the time the investments were made.

59



FCCC/SBI/2019/INF.9

Table 7

United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
Notes to the 2018 financial statements (continued)

89.  The credit ratings used for the Cash Pools are those determined by major credit-rating
agencies; Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s and Fitch are used to rate bonds and discounted
instruments, and the Fitch viability rating is used to rate bank term deposits. At year-end, the
credit ratings were as shown below.

Credit ratings

Investments of the cash pool by credit ratings as at 31 December 2018

Main pool Ratings as at 31 December 2018 Ratings as at 31 December 2017
Bonds (Long term ratings)
AAA AAHAA/AA- At NR AAA AAHAA/AA- A+ NR
S&P 15.4% 79.0% 5.6% - S&P 30.4% 65.5% 4.0% -
Fitch 55.1% 39.3% 5.6% | Fitch 61.3% 30.6% 8.1%
Aaa Aal/Aa2/Aa3 Aaa Aal/Aa2/Aa3
Moody's 49.7% 50.0% 0.3% Moody's 55.3% 44.7%
Commercial papers (Short term ratings)
A1 A1
S&P 100.0% S&P 100.0%
F1 F1
Fitch 100.0% Fitch 100.0%
P-1 P-1
Moody's 100.0% Moody's 100.0%
Reverse repurchase agreement (Short term ratings)
A-1+ A-1+
S&P 100.0% S&P 100.0%
F1+ Fi1+
Fitch 100.0% Fitch 100.0%
P-1 P-1
Moody's 100.0% Moody's 100.0%
Term deposits (Fitch viability ratings)
aaa aa/aa- at/a aaa aa/aa- at/a
Fitch - 53.5% 46.5% Fitch - 44.2% 55.8%
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90.  The United Nations Treasury actively monitors credit ratings and, given that the
Organization has invested only in securities with high credit ratings, management does not
expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations, except for any impaired investments.

Financial visk management: liquidity visk

91. The main pool is exposed to liquidity risk associated with the requirement of
participants to make withdrawals on short notice. It maintains sufficient cash and marketable
securities to meet participants’ commitments as and when they fall due. The major portion
of cash and cash equivalents and investments are available within a day’s notice to support
operational requirements. The main pool liquidity risk is therefore considered to be low.

Financial risk management: intevest rate risk

92.  The main pool comprises the Organization’s main exposure to interest rate risk with
fixed-rate cash and cash equivalents and investments being interest-bearing financial
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Table 8

instruments. As at the reporting date, the main pool had invested primarily in securities with
shorter terms to maturity, with the maximum being less than three years (2017: four years).
The average duration of the main pool was 0.33 years (2017: 0.61 years), which is considered
to be an indicator of low risk.

Cash Pool interest rate risk sensitivity analysis

93.  This analysis shows how the fair value of the main pool as at the reporting date would
increase or decrease should the overall yield curve shift in response to changes in interest
rates. The investments, being accounted for at fair value through surplus or deficit, the change
in fair value represents the increase or decrease in the surplus or deficit and net assets. The
impact of a shift up or down of up to 200 basis points in the yield curve is shown (100 basis
points equals 1 per cent). The basis point shifts are illustrative.

Cash Pools interest rate risk sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2018

Shift in yield curve (basis points) -200 -150 -100 -50 0 +50 +100 +150 +200
Increase/(decrease) in fair value
{(Millions of United States dollars):

Main pool total 4846 3634 2423 1211 - (1489) (2422) (3633)  (48.44)
Table 9
Cash Pools interest rate risk sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2017
Shift in yield curve (basis points) -200 -150 -100 -50 0 +50 +100 +150 +200
Increase/(decrease) in fair value
(Millions of United States dollars):

Main pool total 9547 71.60 4773 2386 - (2386) (47.72) (71.57) (95.42)

Other market price visk

94.  The main pool is not exposed to significant other price risks because it does not sell
short, borrow securities or purchase securities on margin, which limits the potential loss of
capital.

Accounting classifications and fair value — Cash Pool

95.  All investments are reported at fair value through surplus and deficit. Cash and cash
equivalents carried at nominal value are deemed to be an approximation of fair value.

96.  The levels are defined as:

(a)  Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities.
(b)  Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices).

(¢)  Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liabilities that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

97.  The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted
market prices at the reporting date and is determined by the independent custodian based on
valuation of securities sourced from third-parties. A market is regarded as active if quoted
prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group,
pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
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occurring market transactions on an arm's length basis. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held in the main pool is the current bid price.

98.  The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is
determined by using valuation techniques which maximise the use of observable market data.
If all significant inputs required to determine the fair value of an instrument are observable,
the instrument is included in Level 2.

99.  The following fair value hierarchy presents the cash pool assets that are measured at
fair value at the reporting date. There were no Level 3 financial assets nor any liabilities
carried at fair value or any significant transfers of financial assets between fair value
hierarchy classifications.

Table 10
Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December: Cash Pools
(Thousands of United States dollars)
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31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Level 1 Level 2 Total Level 1 Level 2 Total
Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit
Bonds - Corporates 205 566 - 205 566 355262 - 355262
Bonds - Non-United States agencies 791922 - 791 922 1 190 050 - 1190 050
Bonds - Non-United States sovereigns - - - 124892 - 124 892
Bonds - Supranational 174592 - 174 592 173275 - 173 275
Bonds - United States treasuries 610 746 - 610 746 610267 - 610 267
Main pool - Comimercial papers 219366 - 219 366 671 945 - 671 945
Main pool - Term deposits - 4740000 4740 000 — 4300000 4300 000
Main pool total 2002192 4 740 000 6742192 3125691 4 300 000 7 425 691

Table 11

Summary Financial Instruments
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Cash and cash equivalents 20 168 14 194
Short-term investments 172 128 141 513
Long-term investments 13 396 44 608
Accounts receivable 20 369 12 251
Accounts payable (1927) (2862)

Total financial instruments 224 134 209 704
Table 12

Carrying amounts of the contributions receivable
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Indicative Voluntary

Contributions ~ Contributions

EUR and other currencies 10 026 9978
USD 184 256
Total contributions receivable as at 31 December 2018 10 209 10234
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Table 13
Indicative contributions past due as at 31 December 2018
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Indicative contributions past due Indicative Contributions
Upto 1 year 6 605
1 to 2 year 1445
2 to 3 years 418
Above 3 years 1741

Total indicative contributions past due as at 31 December 2018 10 209
Table 14

Provision for impaired indicative receivables as at 31 December 2018
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Provision for impaired receivables Indicative Contributions
Asat 1 Jan 2018 1261
Less receivables written off during the year 1
Increase in provision during 2018 270
Total as at 31 December 2018 1530

Note 5: Cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments

Table 15
Cash and cash equivalents
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Cash held in cash pools 20168 14194
Total cash and cash equivalents 20168 14 194
Table 16

Breakdown of short-term and long-term investments
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Short-term investments (cash pool) 172 128 141 513
Long-term investments (cash pool) 13396 44 608
Total investments 185523 186 121

100. UNFCCC cash forms part of a cash pools that are maintained and managed by the UN
Treasury. The cash pools comprise UNFCCC’s participating share of cash and term deposits,
short term and long-term investments and accrual of investment income, all of which are
managed in the pool.
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Note 6: Accounts receivable

Table 17
Accounts receivable
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 31 December
Accounts receivable 2018 2017
Indicative contributions due from Parties to the Convention,
the Kyoto Protocol and the International Transaction Log
Current 10 209 6 799
Less provision for doubtful debts (1 530) {1261)
Subtotal for indicative contributions 8679 5537
Voluntary contributions
Current 5489 4014
Non-current 4745 970
Subtotal voluntary contributions 10 234 4984
Other receivables (current) 1456 1730
Total accounts receivable 20 369 12251

101. Indicative contributions reflect the contributions receivable from Parties to the
Convention to fund the Core Budget and the International Transactions log in accordance
with the Financial Procedures adopted by the COP. Current voluntary contributions
receivable are for confirmed contributions that are due within twelve months from the
reporting date. Other receivables represent amounts invoiced to member governments, other
UN agencies and individuals for services provided. Provisions have been established
covering indicative contributions receivables and other receivables equal to 50 per cent of
amounts outstanding for more than three but less than four years and 100 per cent of amounts
outstanding for more than four years.

Note 7: Other current assets
102.  Other current assets consist of the following:

Table 18
Other current assets
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Prepayments 1820 7679
CDM Loan Scheme Advance 5375 6191
Project Clearing 138 921
Travel Advances 281 219
Education Grant Advances 1145 1092

Total 8758 16 104

103. Prepayments include advances to vendors and other UN agencies.

104. The UNFCCC loan scheme for CDM is administered by the UN Office for Project
Services and the United Nations Environment Programme. The advances provided are
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covering the requirements for loans to be handed out to participants of the scheme as well as

to cover related administrative expenses.

105.
Development Programme.

Note 8: Property, plant and equipment

Table 19
Property, plant and equipment

(Thousands of United States dollars)

The project clearing accounts is the current account balance with the United Nations

Communication  Furniture and
Vehicles  and IT equipment machinery Total

Cost
At 1 January 2018 49 3080 45 3173
Additions
Disposal

At 31 December 2018 49 3080 45 3173
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2018 18 2751 40 2 809
Depreciation during the year 5 103 2 109
Disposal

At 31 December 2018 22 2854 42 2918
Net Book Value

At 31 December 2018 2 226 4 256
At 31 December 2017 31 329 5 365

106.  Assets are reviewed annually to determine if there is any indication that assets may be
impaired in their value. During 2018 there was no indication for any equipment being

impaired.
Note 9: Intangible assets

Table 20
Intangible assets
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Internally developed software

Opening balance 1 Jan 2018 2319
Additions -
Disposal -

Total as at 31 Dec 2018 2319
Accumulated Amortization 1 Jan 2018 963
Amortization during the year 465
Disposal

Total as at 31 Dec 2018 1427
Net book Value 31 Dec 2018 891
Net book Value 31 Dec 2017 1355
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107. UNFCCC has utilized the transition provision in IPSAS 31 and the value of
intangibles assets has been recognized prospectively beginning with costs incurred on or after
1 January 2014.

Note 10: Payables and Accruals

Table 21
Payables and Accruals
{Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Vendor payables 1617 2527
Other payables 310 333
Accruals for goods and services 2203 8255
Total payables and accruals 4130 11115

108. Payables to vendors relate to amounts due for goods received and services rendered
for which payment has not yet been made.

109.  Accruals are liabilities for goods and services that have been received or provided to
UNFCCC during the year which have not yet been invoiced by suppliers.

Note 11: Advance receipts

Table 22
Advance receipts
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

Conditional voluntary contributions 3121 3624
Indicative contributions received in advance 5620 5179
CDM fees received in advance 1637 1697
Total 10 379 10500

110. UNFCCC recognizes a liability in cases where conditions are attached to voluntary
contributions. Conditions are imposed by donors on the use of contributions and include both
an obligation to use the donation in a specified manner and an obligation to return any amount
not expended in accordance with performance specified by the donation. The amount
recognized as a liability is the best estimate of the amount that would be required to settle the
obligation at the reporting date. As UNFCCC satisfies the conditions on voluntary
contributions through performance in the specified manner, the carrying amount of the
liability 1s reduced and an amount of revenue equal to that reduction is recognized.

111. Indicative contributions received in advance include amounts received before the
actual due date established by the Financial Procedures.

112. CDM and II fees unearned represent fees received for which UNFCCC has not
completed the delivery of all of the services for which the fee has been charged.

Note 12: Employee Benefits
113.  The employee benefits liabilities outstanding at the reporting date are as follows:

Table 23
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Employee benefit liabilities
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017

Current employee benefit liabilities
After service health insurance 308 245
Repatriation grant 1229 1431
Annual leave 235 276
Death benefit 11 11
Home leave travel 496 673
US tax reimbursement 131 43
Total current employee benefit liabilities 2 409 2679
After service health insurance 63 464 62 637
Repatriation grant 9181 9 886
Annual leave 3129 3253
Death benefit 118 121
Home leave travel 49 59
Total non-current employee benefit liabilities 75941 75957
Total employee benefit liabilities 78 350 78 636

114.  The methodology for estimating the amounts of each liability is as follows:

115.  Education grant: Internationally recruited staff members are eligible for partial
reimbursement of the amounts paid for the education of dependent children up to maximum
allowances established by the International Civil Service Commission (ICSC). The liability
relates to the amount earned but not claimed at the reporting date. In case of education grants
advances, 40 per cent of the advance is expensed in the current year while the balance of 60
per cent is recorded as staff advances under other current assets.

116. After Service Health Insurance (ASHI): Staff members (and their spouses,
dependent children and survivors) retiring from service at the age of 55 or later are eligible
for ASHI coverage if they have contributory health insurance coverage prior to retirement
for at least five years of service for staff hired before 1 July 2007 and ten years of service for
staff hired after 1 July 2007. Staff hired before 1 July 2007 who retire with less than ten years
but more than 5 years of covered receive unsubsidized coverage until enrolled for 10 years
at which time the coverage is subsidized. UNFCCC’s liability for ASHI is calculated as the
residual liability after deducting contributions from retirees and a portion of the contribution
from active staff.

117.  After-service health insurance for retired staff members and their survivors and
dependents of UNFCCC is provided by the United Nations Staff Mutual Insurance Society
against Sickness and Accident (UNSMIS) established under article 6.2 of the United Nations
Staff Regulation. UNSMIS is governed by its General Assembly consisting of its members
which includes, in addition to UNFCCC, UNOG (UNCTAD, OCHA, ECE and OHCHR) as
well as ICT, UNHCR, UNDP, UNICEF, WMO, UNV, UNCCD, UNSCC and UNCC. The
General Assembly approves amendments to the Statutes. An Executive Committee
consisting of three members appointed by the Director-General of the United Nations Office
at Geneva, three members appointed by the Co-ordinating Council of the United Nations at
Geneva in consultation with corresponding bodies of the specialized agencies affiliated to
the UNSMIS and one member appointed by the other six members, is responsible for
approving the UNSMIS accounts and management report.
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118. Inaccordance with Article 11 of the Statute, persons insured by UNSMIS shall pay
monthly contributions, the amount of which shall be fixed by its Internal Rules. The
UNFCCC, or other UNSMIS affiliated organizations, shall contribute to the UNSMIS funds
through the payment of a subsidy, the proportion of which in relation to staff member
contributions shall be fixed by the Director-General of the United Nations Office at Geneva
within the limits of the relevant credited voted by the General Assembly of the United
Nations. The ASHI liability calculation also include staff members who contribute to other
United Nations insurance plans and accrue eligibility for after-service health insurance.

119. Repatriation grant and travel: In accordance with UN Staff Rules and Staff
Regulations, non-locally recruited UNFCCC staff are entitled to a grant calculated based on
length of services and family status on separation from service if they have completed at least
one year of service outside their home country. In addition, non-locally recruited UNFCCC
staff are entitled to reimbursement of travel and transport of personal effects on separation
for themselves, their spouse and their dependent children.

120.  Annual leave: In accordance with UN Staff Rules and Staff Regulations, UNFCCC
staff may accumulate annual leave of up to 60 working days which is payable on separation
from service.

121. Death benefit includes lump-sum benefits to be paid in the event of the death in
service of an official with a long-term contract who left a dependent spouse or child.

122.  Home leave: Non-locally recruited UNFCCC staff is entitled to reimbursement for
the costs of travel to their home country in the second year after their initial appointment and
thereafter, every second year. The liability recorded has been calculated proportionately
reflecting the number of months relates to the value of home leave entitlements that have
been earned by officials since their last entitlement but not taken at the reporting date.

123.  US taxes: American citizens that are officials of UNFCCC are reimbursed for the
amount of income taxes payable on the compensation they earn from the organization.

124, An actuarial valuation as of 31 December 2018 carried out in 2019 has been utilized
to determine the UNFCCC’s estimated liability and expenses recognized on the Statements
of Financial Performance and Financial Position for repatriation grants and travel, death
benefit, accumulated annual leave and after-service health insurance at the reporting date.
For 2018, the actuarial study was conducted as a roll-forward of the actuarial valuation of the
End-of-Service schemes as of 31 December 2017.

125.  Each year, the UNFCCC reviews and selects assumptions and methods that will be
used by the actuaries in the valuation to determine the expense and contribution requirements
for the UNFCCC’s after-service medical care plans and separation benefit plans. The
discount rate is determined by calculating the expected benefit payments for each future year
attributable to past service as of the valuation date and then discounting these benefit
payments using spot rates for high quality corporate bonds. A single equivalent discount rate
was then determined that resulted in the same past service obligation. The resulting single
discount rate was rounded to the nearest 1/2 basis point.

126.  The following assumptions and methods have been used to determine the value of
after-service medical care liabilities for the UNFCCC at 31 December 2018.
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Table 24
Key financial assumptions
Repatriation Annual

ASHI Grant & Travel Leave  Death Benefit
Discount rate at beginning of period 0.81% 3.55% 3.58% 3.42%
Discount rate at end of period 1.02% 4.24% 4.27% 4.12%
General inflation rate at beginning of period 2.20%
General inflation rate at end of period 2.20%
Salary increase rate at beginning and end of Based on the age of staff member calculated separately for
period professional and general service staff
Healthcare cost trend rate at beginning of 4.00% decreasing to 3.65% in five years

period

0, 1 0/ 1
Healthcare cost trend rate at end of period 3 HiBdedieasing e BB5%n. fou years

127.  The following assumptions were utilized by the actuary in determining the maturity
profile of the defined benefit obligations at 31 December 2018 :

128.  ASHI scheme: full eligibility is achieved once the staff member’s period of service
reaches 10 years in duration (5 years if hired before 01.07.2007) and once he/she reaches 55
years old.

129.  Repatriation benefits: historically, for disclosure purposes it has been assumed that
full eligibility is achieved from the time when the staff member’s period of service reaches
12 years.

130.  Annual leave: historically, for disclosure purpose it has been assumed that full
eligibility is achieved from the time when the staff member has accumulated 60 days of leave,
1.e. once the maximum of benefits has been accumulated.

131. Death benefits: full eligibility is achieved once the staff member’s period of service
reaches 9 years in duration.

132, The principal financial assumptions in the valuation of the defined benefit obligations
are the rate at which medical costs are expected to increase in the future and the discount rate
curve, which is calculated on the basis of corporate bonds. The sensitivity analysis looks at
the change in liability due to changes in the medical cost trend rates and discount rate. The
sensitivity analyses below are based on a change in one assumption while holding all other
assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur as changes in some of the
assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit
obligation to significant assumptions, the same method has been applied as when calculating
the pension liability recognized in the statement of financial position. Should the discount
rate or the medical cost trend assumption vary by 1 per cent, this would affect the
measurement of the defined-benefit obligations as follows:
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Table 25
Impact of change in medical health care cost trend rate
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Change After serw:ce health
msurance
- 1% 22297

On total defined benefit obligation
(1)% (15 858)
On current service cost and interest cost component 1% 2198
of liability 1)% (1507

133.  The liabilities established for defined benefit obligations and the net service costs for
2018 are as follows:

Table 26
Liabilities established for defined benefit obligations and the net service costs for 2018
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Repatriation
Grant & Annual Death
ASHI Travel Leave Benefit
Reconciliation of defined benefit obligation
Defined benefit obligation, beginning of year 62 882 10 807 3529 132
Current service cost 4630 509 246 11
Interest cost 509 367 121 4
Benefits paid (net of participant contribution) 247) 954) (286) (11)
Llablhfy (gegn)/loss due to actuarial assumptions and experience (4020) 689) (246) )
recognised in net assets
Total liability recognized on Statement of Financial Position 63 754 10 040 3 364 129
Annual expense for calendar year
Current service cost 4630 509 246 11
Interest cost 509 367 121 4
Benefits paid (net of participant contribution) (247) 954) (286) (11)
Total charge/(credit) recognized on statement of financial 4 892 (78) 81 4
performance
Estimated benefit payments net of participant contributions payable in 293 890 243 11
2018
Cumulative amount of actuarial (gain)/loss recognized in net assets
Liability (gain)/loss due to actuarial assumptions and experience (4020) (689) (240) M
recognised in net assets
Total portion of cumulative liability recognized in net assets at end (4 020) (689) (246) (W)
of year

134. Effective 1 January 2017, a monthly accrual has been implemented to start funding
after-service health insurance liabilities relating to extra budgetary activities. For this
purposes, an accrual rate of 3% is applied on the sum of gross salary and post adjustment.

135.  Under IPSAS 39, the liabilities for ASHI, repatriation grant and travel, death benefit
and accumulated annual leave are considered unfunded and, therefore, no fair value of plan
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assets has been recognized and the entire ASHI liability is recognized as a liability of the
UNFCCC.

136. Beginning in 2014 with the adoption of IPSAS, interest cost and current service cost
related to the defined benefit obligation for ASHI liability, repatriation grant and travel, death
benefits and accumulated annual leave are recognized on the statement of financial
performance as a component of personnel expenditure. Actuarial gains or losses for defined
benefits plan results from changes in actuarial assumptions or experience adjustments
including experience adjustments are directly recognized in the consolidated statement of
changes in net assets. The balance of each provision is reviewed annually and adjusted to
reflect actual experience.

137.  Short-term employee benefit liabilities for education grants and home leave are
recognized at an undiscounted amount. Short-term compensated absences are recognized, as
employees earn their entitlement to future compensated absences through rendering a service
to the UNFCCC. For non-accumulating compensating absences an expense is recognized
when the absence occurs.

138.  During 2018, UNFCCC accrued USD 1 million for repatriation grant and travel and
USD 1.3 million for ASHI from all funds except the core budget and the international
transaction. These amounts are collected in the fund for employee benefits and will be used
to (partially) fund future payment for ASHI and repatriation grants relating to the funds
participating in the accrual. Based on the total liability for ASHI of USD 63.7 million and
USD 10.4 million for repatriation grant, the current funding ratio amounts to 2% for the ASHI
and 10% for repatriation grant liability.

United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund (UNJSPF)

139.  The Fund’s Regulations state that the Pension Board shall have an actuarial valuation
made of the Fund at least once every three years by the Consulting Actuary. The practice of
the Pension Board has been to carry out an actuarial valuation every two years using the Open
Group Aggregate Method. The primary purpose of the actuarial valuation is to determine
whether the current and estimated future assets of the Pension Fund will be sufficient to meet
its liabilities.

140. UNFCCC’s financial obligation to the UNJSPF consists of its mandated contribution,
at the rate established by the United Nations General Assembly (currently at 7.9 per cent for
participants and 15.8 per cent for member organizations) together with any share of any
actuarial deficiency payments under Article 26 of the Regulations of the Fund. Such
deficiency payments are only payable if and when the United Nations General Assembly has
invoked the provision of Article 26, following determination that there is a requirement for
deficiency payments based on an assessment of the actuarial sufficiency of the Fund as of the
valuation date. Each member organization shall contribute to this deficiency an amount
proportionate to the total contributions which each paid during the three years preceding the
valuation date.

141.  During 2017, the Fund identified that there were anomalies in the census data utilized
in the actuarial valuation performed as of 31 December 2015. As such, as an exception to the
normal biannual cycle, a roll forward of the participation data as of 31 December 2013 to 31
December 2016 was used by the Fund for their 2016 financial statements.

142, The actuarial valuation as of 31 December 2017 resulted in a funded ratio of actuarial
assets to actuarial liabilities, assuming no future pension adjustments, of 139.2% (150.1% in
the 2016 roll forward). The funded ratio was 102.7 (101.4% in the 2016 roll forward) when
the current system of pension adjustments was taken into account.

143.  After assessing the actuarial sufficiency of the Fund, the Consulting Actuary
concluded that there was no requirement, as of 31 December 2017, for deficiency payments
under Article 26 of the Regulations of the Fund as the actuarial value of assets exceeded the
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actuarial value of all accrued liabilities under the plan. In addition, the market value of assets
also exceeded the actuarial value of all accrued liabilities as of the valuation date. At the time
of this report, the General Assembly has not invoked the provision of Article 26.

144.  Should Article 26 be invoked due to an actuarial deficiency, either during the ongoing
operation or due to the termination of the UNIJSPF pension plan, deficiency payments
required from each member organization would be based upon the proportion of that member
organization’s contributions to the total contributions paid to the Fund during the three years
preceding the valuation date. Total contributions paid to the UNJSPF during the preceding
three years (2015, 2016 and 2017) amounted to USD 6,931.39 million, of which 0.3% was
contributed by UNFCCC.

145.  During 2018, UNFCCC’s contributions paid to UNJSPF amounted to 7.4 million
(2017 7.4 million). Expected contributions due in 2019 are 7.4 million.

146.  Membership of the Fund may be terminated by decision of the United Nations General
Assembly, upon the affirmative recommendation of the Pension Board. A proportionate
share of the total assets of the Fund at the date of termination shall be paid to the former
member organization for the exclusive benefit of its staff who were participants in the Fund
at that date, pursuant to an arrangement mutually agreed between the organization and the
Fund. The amount is determined by the United Nations Joint Staff Pension Board based on
an actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of the Fund on the date of termination; no
part of the assets which are in excess of the liabilities are included in the amount

147.  The United Nations Board of Auditors carries out an annual audit of the UNJSPF and
reports to the UNJSPF Pension Board on the audit every year. The UNJSPF publishes
quarterly reports on its investments and these can be viewed by visiting the UNJSPF at
www.unjspf.org.

Note 13: Provisions

Table 27
Provisions
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Provision for legal cases 0 0

Total 0 0

148. At year end, UNFCCC had no pending cases with the United Nations Administrative
Tribunal.

Note 14: Other current liabilities:

Table 28
Other current liabilities
(Thousands of United States dollars)

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Cash Payments Rejected by Bank 0 0
Other Liabilities 0 8
Total 0 8
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Note 15: Revenue

149. Indicative contributions are contributions received from Parties to the Convention
toward funding the Core Budget and the International Transaction Log under the Financial
Procedures, based on the United Nations scale of assessment adjusted for differences in
membership. The contributions are based on a biennium budget and are recognized as of the
first day of the year to which they relate. Indicative contributions are considered to be without
conditions.

Table 29
Indicative contributions
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2018 2017

Core budget to the convention 331359 27 800
International transaction log 1615 2722
Total 34974 30 522

150. Voluntary contributions are recognized as revenue at the point of signature except
where such agreement contains a condition in which case recognition as revenue is deferred
until the conditions specified in the donor agreement have been satisfied.

Table 30
Voluntary contributions
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2018 2017

Voluntary contribution to the core budget 916 802
Participation trust fund 7373 2184
Trust fund for supplementary activities 32182 16252
Special annual contribution from the host country 2138 1872
Special account for activities for conferences 4283 19117
Total 46 892 40227

151.  Fee income includes charges for the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) and Joint
Implementation (JI).

Table 31
Fee Income
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2018 2017
CDM fees 11 656 8578
Total 11 656 8578

152. Income from the Clean Development Mechanism and Joint Implementation includes
fee-based income to finance CDM activities consisting of:

(a)  Accreditation and related fees from commercial bodies to become designated
operational entities to validate CDM project activities. The fee is calculated on the basis of
the estimated average cost per application. Entities from non-Annex I Parties may have the
possibility of paying 50 per cent of the non-reimbursable fee when they apply for
accreditation, provided that they state their inability to pay the full fee at application. The
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remaining 50 per cent of the fee should be paid at a later stage once and if the applicant entity
is accredited and designated and starts operation. The non-reimbursable application fee is
USD 15,000 per application. In addition, fees are received to cover the costs for the work
provided by CDM accreditation team (daily fee of USD 400);

(b)  Registration fees charged for the formal acceptance by the CDM Executive
Board of a validated project as CDM project activity. It is based on the expected average
annual Certified Emission Reductions for the proposed project activity over its crediting
period. No registration fee shall be payable for activities and programmes of activities hosted
in least developed countries. No registration fee shall be payable until after the date of the
first issuance of CERs in countries with fewer than 10 registered CDM project activities. The
registration fee is a) USD 0.10 per CER issued for the first 15,000 tonnes of CO2 of the
expected annual CERs; b) USD 0.20 per CER issued for any amount in excess of 15,000
tonnes of CO2 equivalent of the expected annual CERs. The maximum registration fee is
USD 350,000,

(c)  Share of proceeds to cover administrative expenses is:

® USD 0.10 per CER issued for the first 15,000 tonnes of CO2 equivalent for
which issuance is requested in a given year;

(i)  USD 0.20 per CER issued for any amount in excess of 15,000 tonnes of CO2
equivalent for which issuance is requested in a given year;

(ii1)  No share of proceeds shall be due for project activities and PoAs hosted in least
developed countries. The registration fee shall be deducted from the share of proceeds
due for the issuance of CERs. In effect, the registration fee is an advance payment of
the share of proceeds due for the issuance of CERs likely to be achieved during the
first year.

Table 32
Interest revenue

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Investment income — Interest earned 4092 2715
TOTAL 4092 2715

153, Services in kind are not recognised in the face of the financial statements.

154.  Gain on foreign exchange represent gains realized on transactions occurring in
currencies other than United States dollars and unrealized losses resulting from revaluation
of monetary assets.

Note 16: Expenses

Table 33
Expenses
(Thousands of United States dollars)

2018 2017
Personnel expenditure 51 588 55 444
Travel 12297 9331
Contractual services 15280 25574
Operating expenses 1387 1 869
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Other expenses 4019 2219
Depreciation of equipment 109 251
Amortization of intangible assets 464 464
Return/transfer of donor funding 5126 153
Loss on foreign exchange 887 0

Total 91 158 95 305

155.  Personnel expenditure includes all international and national staff expenses such as
salaries, post adjustments, entitlements, pension and health plan contributions for
professional and general service category staff. It also includes temporary staff expenses such
as costs relating to the employment of temporaries and supernumeraries. Pension and
insurance benefits also include the service and interest cost as per the actuarial valuation.

Table 34
Salaries allowances and benefits

31 December 2018 31 December 2017

Salary and wages 34294 33734
Pension and insurance benefits 14075 17 363
Other benefits 3949 4347

TOTAL 51588 55 444

156.  Travel covers the cost of airfare and other transport cost, daily support allowances and
terminal allowances.

157.  Contractual services include cost of acquiring goods and services from commercial
providers, mainly for IT related and consultancy services for different service periods.

158.  Operating expenses include cost of maintenance, rent, communications, joint
activities and other operating expenses.

159.  Other expenses include allowances for doubtful debts, cost for inter-agency and
meeting related expenses as well as write-offs.

160. Pursuant to rule 106.7(a) of the financial Regulations of the United Nations, write-off
cases totaling USD 421,797 were approved for the year 2018. Of this total, USD 418,333
relate to write-off cases for unrecoverable amounts under the CDM loan scheme.

161.  Returns of donor funding includes the amounts of unspent funds returned to donors
upon completion of voluntary funded projects in accordance with the respective donor
agreement.

Note 17: Reserves

162. A reserve is established for the Core Budget and the Budget of the International
Transaction log as part of the adoption of the budget by the COP. For the CDM trust fund, a
reserve of USD 45 million has been established. The total reserves at the reporting date
amount to USD 49.1 million. The Appendix D to the Staff Rules covers staff members for
work related death, injury or illness attributable to the performance of official duties on behalf
of the United Nations for which UNFCCC maintains a corresponding reserve.
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Table 35
Reserves as at 31 December 2018
(Thousands of United States dollars)

Reserves for Core Budget and ITL 2 955
CDM trust fund reserve 45 000
Reserve for Appendix D 1179

Total reserves 49 134

Note 18: Fund Accounting and Segment Reporting

163.  The UNFCCC is a single purpose entity established by the Parties to the Convention
and the United Nations as the joint technical cooperation agency for business aspects of trade
development. The UNFCCC has one major mandate to assist the signatories of the UN
Framework Convention on Climate Change to limit average global temperature increases and
the resulting climate change, and to cope with whatever impacts are inevitable in part through
enforcing the legally binding emission reduction targets established in the Kyoto Protocol.
It, therefore, does not have segments as defined under IPSAS.

164. However, to provide essential information to senior management and owners on the
utilization of resources by funding source, separate funds have been established to reflect the
major funding sources of UNFCCC as follows:

(@  Trust fund for the Core Budget of UNFCCC financed from indicative
contributions (or general purpose contributions from donors) supports the core functions of
the secretariat;

(b)  Trust fund for the Participation in the UNFCCC process financed from
voluntary contributions supports participation of representatives from eligible developing
country Parties and Parties with economies in transition in the sessions of the Conference of
the Parties and its subsidiary bodies;

(¢)  Trust fund for Supplementary activities financed from voluntary contributions
including both bilateral funds involving the UNFCCC, a donor and often a recipient
government and programmes to which multiple donors make voluntary contributions
supports mandated activities for which provisions are not made under the Core budget;

(d)  Trust fund for the Clean Development Mechanism financed from fees charged
for registration of projects support the administration of the clean development mechanism
enabling parties to meet their emission limitation and reduction commitments by using
certified emission reductions (CERs) generated from CDM projects,

(e)  Trust fund for the International transactions log (ITL) financed from indicative
contributions (or general purpose contributions from donors). The ITL to verify the validity
of transactions undertaken by national registries of Parties of Annex B of the Convention and
CDM registry. The ITL takes a central role between registries and is an essential component
of the settlement infrastructure for emissions trading under the Kyoto Protocol;

63) Trust fund for the Special Annual Contribution from the Government of
Germany financed from a voluntary contribution from the government in which the
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UNFCCC headquarters is located. Funds are used to finance the logistical arrangements of
events taking place in Germany including workshops and sessions of the subsidiary bodies;

(g)  Special account for Programme Support Costs financed from charges made to
the projects financed from voluntary contributions used to manage the overhead charges
payable on all trust funds to cover costs relating to administrative services;

(h)  Special account for conferences and other recoverable costs financed from
voluntary contributions used to finance costs associated with the hosting of the Conference
of the Parties under the host country agreement. Balances in this account are refunded to the
host country;

()] Costrecovery fund financed from charges made to the activities financed from
indicative and voluntary contributions;

(3)  End of service and post employee benefits fund not currently financed.

165. Programme Support Revenue is charged in line with the UN financial procedures
where UNFCCC charges a standard programme support cost rate of 13 per cent on
expenditures incurred. For associate experts and EC funded projects, the rate varies from 7
per cent to 13 per cent

166.  All funds elimination includes revenue and expense arising from transfers between
funds which are accounted for at cost and are eliminated on consolidation
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Table 36 Statement of financial position by fund

6'4N1/6T02/19S/0024

Truzt fund for the Trust fund for the Truzt fund for Special Annual Truzt fund for Truzt fund for the conferences and UNFCCC
Clean development  Core Budget of icipation in the ibution from i other recoversble  programme zupport UNFCCC Employee

ASSETS mechanizm UNFCCC UNFCCC process  the Government of  Activities Tranzaction Log costs costss Cost Recovery liabilitiez fund TOTAL
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12738 1234 327 40 329 853 174 1084 204 222 20 168

Short-term investments 108 717 10533 2788 343 28 082 7282 1487 9256 1745 1894 172 128

Indicative contributions receivable 8679 8679

Voluntary contributions receivable 1044 3904 540 5489

Other receivables 953 125 13 16 176 38 33 49 43 9 1456

Other current assets 6312 957 4 4 71 65 127 185 326 8758
Total current Assets 128 719 21 529 4177 404 36 230 8239 2362 10 575 2319 2125 216 678
Non-current assets

Other receivables 4745 4745

Long-term investments 8461 820 217 27 2185 567 116 720 136 147 13 396

Propery. plant and equipment 59 18 173 5 256

I ible assets 80 163 649 891
Total non-current assets 8541 1042 217 27 7597 567 289 725 136 147 19 288
TOTAL ASSETS 137 260 22 571 4394 430 43 827 8 805 2 651 11 300 2 455 2273 235 965
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables and accruals 1308 624 91 75 1094 120 446 24 348 4130

Advance receipts 1637 5181 38 3083 439 10 379

Employee benefits 244 495 5 106 16 5 44 99 1395 2 409
Total non-current liabilities 3189 6299 130 80 4284 575 451 68 447 1395 16 918
Non-current liabilities

Emplovee benefits 18 21 4 1 4 2 75 892 75 941
Total non-current liabilities 18 21 4 1 4 2 75 892 75 941
TOTAL LIABILITIES 3207 6320 130 80 4288 576 451 71 449 77 287 92 859
NET ASSETS

Accumulated surpluses/(deficits) 89 053 12 363 4264 351 39539 7983 2200 11229 2005 (75014) 93 973

Reserves 45 000 3887 247 49 134
TOTAL NET ASSETS 134 053 16 250 4264 351 39 539 8230 2200 11229 2 005 (75 014) 143 107
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET
ASSETS/EQUITY 137 260 22571 4394 430 43 827 8 805 2 651 11 300 2 455 2273 235965
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Table 37 Statement of financial performance by fund

Teust fued for the

Trust fund for the

Cleandeveloproent  CoreBudgetof

Trust fund for
pasicipationiatks

Trast fimd for the
Special Annual

Comrivuticafrom  Teust fued for

the Gowemaent of S

realary

Trust fund for the
Iternational

Sp ecial accoues for
conferences and
otkerrezovesable

Specsalaccovd
forUNFCCC
programue

UNFCCC
Enploye!

support costss CostRecowsy  Lebities ad  Elimination

REVENUE racckanis UNFCCE ULFCCC process  Gernasg Transactionlog  costs TOTAL
Indicative contributions 33359 1616 34974
Voluntary contributions 916 7373 2138 32182 4283 46 892
CDM and JI service lees 11 656 11 656
Interest Revenue 2629 255 51 26 626 187 100 168 49 4092
Gam on foreign exchange
Other/miscellancous revenue 87 10 15 4 372 { 140) 123 5827 2280 (7143) 1435
Programme support income 9 150 {9149} 2

TOTAL REVENUE 14 372 34 541 7 440 2 169 33 180 1802 4243 9 441 5876 2280 (16 292) 99 051

EXPENSES
Personmel expenditure 10 266 18 587 595 7307 859 484 6967 3042 4899  {1418) 51588
Travel 1570 1393 3664 74 4289 3 127 28 {2 12 297
Contractual services 2 460 2989 91 841 5475 1505 1013 221 2278 (1593) 15 280
Operating expenses 289 653 11 277 5 55 1 96 1387
Other expenses 3086 287 0 351 1654 132 637 1794 210 (4132) 4019
Depreciation of equipment 18 29 56 7 109
Amorfization of intangible assets 69 108 287 464
Return/transfer of donor funding 75 551 4 500 5126
Loss on foreign exchange { 70y 267 ( 54) {9 691 (19) 84 (12) 1 7 887
Programme support 2176 3079 406 245 2236 262 745 (9149)

TOTAL EXPENSES 19 846 27 382 4107 2 182 22 796 2 748 8 851 9 006 5626 4906 (16 292) 91 157

TOTAL SURPLUS/ADEFICIT) (5474) 7159 3 333 (13) 10 384 ( 946) (4 608) 436 249 (2 626) 7 894
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Note 19: Budget Comparison and Reconciliation

167. UNFCCC's budget is prepared on a modified accrual accounting basis and the
financial statements are prepared on a full accrual basis in accordance with TPSAS.
Statements V-A, V-B-V-C. The budgets are adopted on a biennial basis and divided into
annual amounts for presentation in the financial statement. Comparison of budget and actual
amounts compares the final budget to actual amounts calculated on the same basis as the
corresponding budgetary appropriations. The comparison is only made in respect of budgets
adopted by the COP and CMP.

168.  The actual amounts presented on a comparable basis to the budget are not prepared
on a comparable basis to the Statement of Financial Performance. A reconciliation of the
budgetary amounts to the amounts presented on the financial statements, identifying
separately any basis, entity differences. There may also be differences in formats and
classification schemes adopted for presentation of financial statements and the budget.

169. Basis differences capture the differences resulting from preparing the budget on a
modified accrual basis. In order to reconcile the budgetary results to the net results on an
IPSAS basis the non-cash elements such as un-liquidated obligations, payments against prior
year obligations and outstanding indicative contributions are included as basis differences.

170. Presentation differences are differences in the format and classification schemes in
the Statement of Financial Performance and the Statement of Comparison of Budget and
Actual Amounts.

171.  Entity differences represent funds other than Core budget, International Transactions
Log and Contingent budget for conference services that are reported in the Statement of
Financial Performance.

172, The reconciliation between the actual amounts presented in statements V-A, V-B and
V-C and the actual amounts presented on the Statement of Financial Performance is as
follows:

Table 38
Reconciliation of net result on budgetary and IPSAS basis

Reconciliation of net result on budgetary and IPSAS basis

Actual net result on the Statement of budgets to actual comparison

Statement V-A Core Budget 7260
Statement V-B International Transaction Log (682)
Statement V-C Contingent budget of conference services
Actual net result on budgetary basis 6578
Basis differences
Additional income components under IPSAS 452
Exchange gains/losses (246)
Conversion of unliquidated obligations to delivery principle (172)
Capitalization of equipment & intangible assets (127)
Changes in provision for doubtful debts (270)
Sub-total basis differences (365)
Entity differences on IPSAS Basis
Participation in UNFCCC process 3333
Supplementary activities 10384
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Reconciliation of net result on budgetary and IPSAS basis

Clean development mechanism (5474)
Special contribution from Germany (13)
Special account for conferences (4 608)
Programme support costs 435
Cost Recovery 249
End of service and post-employment benefits (2 626)

Sub-total entity differences 1680

Actual net result on the Statement of Financial Performance 7894

Note 20: Budget to Actual variance analysis

173.  Explanations of material differences between the original budget and final budget and
the actual amounts are presented in the financial report from the Executive Secretary
accompanying these statements. See paragraph 16 for further details.

Note 21: Related Parties

174. Except otherwise noted in these statements for revenue from non-exchange
transactions including contributions in kind, all transactions made with 3rd parties occur
within a normal supplier or client/recipient relationship or at arm's length terms and
conditions.

175.  The Organization reimburses the United Nations for the cost of all services provided
at such rates as may from time to time be agreed upon for that purpose by both organizations.

176.  The charges paid to the United Nations (UN Office at Geneva — UNOG) of USD 0.4
million for services related to security, payroll, treasury and other services are considered to
be provided on a normal supplier basis. The United Nations Secretariat also provides support
services on a normal supplier basis such as translation and editing of documents related to
the meetings of the Conference of Parties to the Organization from its Regular Budget at a
value of EUR 4.9 million in 2018.

177.  The authority to establish funds is vested in the Secretary General of the United
Nations with the approval of the Conference of the Parties. All such funds must be consistent
with the objectives of the UN Convention on Climate Change. The termination of any
existing fund by the Conference of the Parties and the distribution of any remaining fund
balance is subject to consultation with the Secretary General of the United Nations.

Table 39
Summary of senior management and related compensation

oy Aggregate remuneration Outstanding advances at 31 Dec
Nemberiof individuals (in thousands of USD) 2017 (in thousands of USD)
13 2,991 150

178.  During 2018, two individuals of senior management left the organization.

179. The senior management personnel of UNFCCC are the Executive Secretary, Deputy
Executive Secretary and Directors of programmes, who have the authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of UNFCCC and influencing its strategic
direction.

180.  Advances are those made against entitlements in accordance with the staff rules and
regulations. There were no loans granted to key management personnel.
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Note 22: Leases, commitments and contingencies

181.  There are no contingent liabilities arising from legal actions and claims that are likely
to result in a significant liability to UNFCCC.

182. There are no contingent assets of which relate to official pledges made by donors to
UNFCCC for future contributions at the reporting date.

Note 23: Events after the reporting date

183. UNFCCC’s reporting date is 31 December 2018. The financial statements were
authorized for issue on 31 March 2018, the date at which they were submitted to the External
Auditor by the Executive Secretary. On the date of signing these accounts, there have been
no material events, favourable or unfavourable, incurred between the reporting date and the
date when the financial statements were authorized for issue that would have impacted these
statements.

Note 24: In-kind contributions of services

184. The UNFCCC receives in-kind contributions from the government of the Federal
Republic of Germany of the right to use land, office space and other facilities in its operations.
The Organization has not received title to these properties which remain with the government.
The facilities are provided to UNFCCC without charge. The agreement under which the
facilities are provided does not entail formal cancellation policies or timelines. UNFCCC
does not recognize the value of in-kind contributions of services including the financial value
of the donated right to use the facilities provided by the Federal Republic of Germany on the
financial statements. In addition, UNFCCC receives conference services (interpretation and
document preparation) as in-kind contribution for the UN secretariat for meeting of the COP
and the subsidiary bodies.




